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THE YEAR’'S HIGHLIGHTS NEEFE

(BRE&1TheE - BERBA RE T AR
SMILAEREFIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars except number
of shares issued, shareholders and personnel)

2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-TF
Revenue ($'000) WA (F7) 595,616 555,658
Profit for the year ($'000) FEAF (Fir) 22,108 13,851
Earnings per share — Basic (cents) BRREA — AR (L) 5 S
Taxes paid, including beer tax ($'000) PEEEER (Fr) 6,738 11,068
Taxes paid per share (cents) FRREIE (L) 2 3
Non-current tangible assets ($'000) FERBBFREE (TIT) 458,923 465,291
Net worth ($'000) HE (F7T) 571,102 543,011
Salaries, wages and other benefits ($'000) e TERHEMER (FT) 121,450 121,179
Number of shares issued BITIREK 373,570,560 373,570,560
Number of shareholders PR EE 1,908 1,950
Number of personnel ETAH 477 517
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE 3R &

To our shareholders,

FINANCIAL RESULTS

San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) registered a consolidated profit of HK$22.1 million in 2021
(2020: HK$13.9 million). Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for 2021
reached HK$19.4 million (2020: HK$17.2 million).

The Group’s consolidated revenue was HK$595.6 million, 7.2% higher than
the same period in 2020. Gross profit reached HK$243.0 million, 0.1% lower
than the HK$243.4 million in 2020, with a gross profit margin of 40.8%.

As of 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
amounted to HK$132.4 million (HK$156.1 million as of 31 December 2020).

Loans as of 31 December 2021 totaled HK$42.4 million, 54.4% lower than
the HK$92.9 million debt reported the prior year. Total net assets stood at
HK$571.1 million (HK$543.0 million as of 31 December 2020), with a loan-to-
equity ratio of 0.07 (31 December 2020: 0.17).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE &

DIVIDENDS

No final dividends will be declared for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW
HONG KONG OPERATIONS

Hong Kong's economy contracted for two consecutive years in 2019 and
2020 as it faced various internal and external challenges, as well as the
COVID-19 pandemic. In 2021, the economy began a gradual recovery as a
result of continuous fiscal stimulus, a resilient financial services industry,
buoyant property prices, and resurgent trade. However, this recovery remains
uneven, as tourism and the retail sales and services segment — the largest
job providers for the city's working-class — continue to be affected by the
pandemic.

With beer consumption highly linked to the tourism and the retail sales and
services sector, the beer industry contracted for the third straight year in
2021, dropping by a further 6% and affecting all price segments. Nonetheless,
we performed better than the industry average in terms of sales volume, with
local volumes declining by only 3%. Taking into account increased sales to
Macau and other export markets, the Company’s total volume performance
was at par with the previous year.

Profits from our Hong Kong operations were lower compared to the previous
year. However, excluding the financial support provided by the Hong Kong
Government in the form of the "Employment Support Scheme” (ESS) in 2020,
the Company would have registered a significant profit increase, reflecting
cost management improvements in our operations aimed at counteracting
marked increases in the cost of aluminum and diesel fuel.

In the local market, we managed to outperform the industry by closely
anticipating shifting market dynamics brought about by varying COVID-19-
related restrictions. The Company adapted quickly to changing conditions,
rationalizing and targeting advertising and promotions towards appropriate
media channels to ensure our brands were visible to consumers in different
channels at the right times.

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the volume share of on-premise outlets to
the total market bottomed out in the first quarter of 2021, at 6%. This slowly
improved to almost 20% in the fourth quarter, as the pandemic situation in
Hong Kong stabilized. To adapt to this market development, we launched
off-premise-wide promotions for San Miguel Pale Pilsen, San Mig Light, San
Miguel Cerveza Negra, and San Miguel Cerveza Blanca, from May to June and
then targeting a broader audience from September to October, through a
market-wide lucky draw, 4= h##R € (EE . Both programs were supported by
tactical TV and online advertising, along with a public relations campaign and
in-store merchandising. We likewise stepped-up efforts to increase online
sales, which resulted in double-digit growth from online selling platforms over
the previous year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE 3R &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
HONG KONG OPERATIONS (Continued)

Our new wheat beer offering, San Miguel Cerveza Blanca, which we
launched in late 2020 to compete in the premium segment, performed very
well throughout 2021 and became one of the highest-selling brands in our
portfolio of premium, specialty, and craft beers.

Blue Ice also managed to stay ahead of other players in the low-priced
segment, which suffered an 11% volume drop compared to the previous year.

SOUTH CHINA OPERATIONS

The recovery of Guangdong's economy amidst the COVID-19 pandemic in
2021 was strong but irregular. The first half of the year saw China’s growth
rate increase significantly, due to the low base resulting from the economic
slump of the previous year, and the remarkable performance of the exports
sector. However, economic activities slowed down in the second half due
to supply and demand disruptions. With a zero-infection policy in the whole
of China, Guangdong was able to keep COVID-19 cases to relatively low
levels, enabling manufacturers to better meet overseas orders. However,
the same measures also resulted in subdued domestic consumer spending.
These developments are very much reflected in San Miguel (Guangdong)
Brewery Co., Ltd.'s ("SMGB") volume performance, which registered double-
digit growth compared to 2020, accounted for by the notable growth in our
export volumes. Sales within South China, however, were affected by erratic
and disruptive COVID-19 restrictions. Volumes were also partially affected
by the discontinuation of the sales of our previous partner’s brand, Guang's.
However, this had minimal profit impact due to its low margins. Nevertheless,
a market-wide lucky draw consumer promotion for all San Miguel brands
across all channels and regions, coupled with increased outlet merchandising,
was rolled out from June to November to further drive consumption.

The year 2021 also marked the first full year since the cessation of the
operations of Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company Limited (“GSMB")
last 30 November 2020. Since then, we have managed the smooth transition
of GSMB's sales and marketing operations to SMGB. Not only did SMGB
maintain GSMB's previous sales network, but it also recruited new dealers
and wholesalers, widening the company’s coverage and putting in place
a more sustainable distribution network that will be key to improving our
performance throughout, and after this pandemic. This, together with
improved fixed and variable costs on a per hectoliter basis, contributed to
the double-digit improvement in the operating profit of our South China
operations versus the previous year.
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COMMUNITY RELATIONS AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Company continued to strive to act in the best interest of the
environment as well as of the communities in our areas of operation. Social
responsibility remains an important value in our Company. Apart from
meticulously complying with legal and regulatory requirements, we work
toward making a genuine, positive impact on our employees, their families,
our business partners, our local communities, and the environment.

Since 2015, we have published an Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG") Report to provide the public an appreciation of how we approach
and address different ESG issues. The Company’s 2021 ESG Report will
be available on our website no later 31 May 2022. We actively promote
responsible drinking within the organization and also to the public. We
are also committed to protecting the environment and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are met or exceeded.

To bring focus and emphasis on the Company's approach and strategy on the
management of ESG issues, the Sustainability Committee was established
last 2 November 2020.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Our employees play a key role in our success, and how we fulfill our
responsibilities to shareholders, society, and the environment. We continue
to invest in our people, ensuring that they are equipped with the right
knowledge, skills, and experiences to match the Company’s needs. Even
in the time of COVID-19, we have invested in in-house training and utilized
publicly-available webinars, to support their personal growth and foster
harmony within the organization.

We also have safety and health measures in place to better protect our
employees from both the day-to-day working environment and from
extraordinary circumstances such as the COVID-19 virus.

We also continue to provide employees with competitive remuneration
packages aligned with industry standards, as well as attractive benefits,
including medical and insurance coverage, and numerous paid leaves on top
of what is required by the law.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company continued to apply the principles of the Corporate Governance
(CG) Code and CG Report contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
throughout the year, save for the deviations discussed in CG section of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS

In 2021, the Board mourned the loss of one of its long-time members, Mr.
Carmelo L. Santiago, who passed away on 6 August 2021. Mr. Thelmo Luis O.
Cunanan Jr. has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company, effective 25 October 2021, in place of Mr. Santiago.

Mr. Ramon G. Torralba has resigned as Executive Director and Managing
Director of the Company, effective 16 January 2022 and Mr. Raymundo Y.
Albano was appointed in his stead, also effective on the same date.

FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES

For 2022, the Company has outlined the following objectives:

o In Hong Kong, we will further improve profitability and work to
increase our market share by optimizing the use of our resources,
nurturing a winning culture within the organization, and focusing more
on the San Miguel brand. We will be quick to adapt to ever-changing
consumption dynamics in our markets and will work closely with
wholesalers and direct customers to ensure product availability is in
line with market needs.

o In South China, we intend to take advantage of the newly consolidated
operations and further improve profitability by continuing to develop
both our dealer and wholesaler networks in all our markets. We will
also maintain our export business and aim to improve margins and
rationalize costs.

To achieve these objectives, we will be responsive to the risk presented by
COVID-19. While the global pandemic persists as of this report, the availability
of COVID-19 vaccines and the lower virulence of the currently prevalent
COVID-19 variant, Omicron, offers hope for economic recovery. However,
many uncertainties remain on the possible emergence of new and more
infectious and lethal variants, as well as on the long-term effects of the
pandemic on the economy. We will continue to be vigilant and ensure the
adaptability of our business strategies to the market situation.

Looking ahead, we reiterate our commitment to maximizing shareholder
value and strengthening our brands. We have a number of strategies in place
to help us cope with the risks we foresee, and at the same time, enable us to
manage costs effectively to strengthen profitability.
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FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES (Continued)

The COVID-19 pandemic will continue to have a socio-economic impact
across the world. These impacts will be uneven, as the recovery and ability
to live with COVID-19 vary per city and country. We will continue to closely
monitor and adapt to changing conditions and ensure that we adopt the
appropriate strategies and programs to get ahead of the competition and
accelerate volume recovery. We will strive to ensure that our beer brands
remain relevant to our consumers and customers, regardless of the occasion,
their location, lifestyle, and earning power.

We thank our employees for their hard work and perseverance, and members

of our Board for their guidance. Most of all, we thank all our shareholders,
consumers, customers, and business partners for their continued support.

L

Ramon S. Ang
Chairman

7 March 2022
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DIRECTORS' REPORT EE2#H 4%

To be presented at the Fifty-ninth Annual General Meeting of shareholders
to be held at San Miguel Head Office Complex, 40 San Miguel Avenue,
Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila, Philippines on 25 April 2022 at 3:00 p.m. and
will also be streamed live via webcast which is accessible at http://meetings.
computershare.com/SMB_2022AGM where shareholders may participate and
vote.

The directors submit their Annual Report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and
has its registered office and principal place of business at 9/F, Citimark
Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture and distribution
of bottled, canned and draught beers. The principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The segment analysis of the Group for the financial year is set out in note 3 to
the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers, respectively, during the year is as follows:

ABEBR_E-__FUNA-THEATF=H
1EfBR B San Miguel Head Office Complex, 40 San
Miguel Avenue, Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila,
Philippines(JRi& R http://meetings.computershare.
COM/SMB_2022AGM HI484& BB HTTEHIE) 8172
FRTNERREAFAE LR -

EEgL NAZBRRREBE_Z_—F+-A
=+ BLEFEEZFRMEERTWHERE
FEERMMBS

ARBE—HEREBEMKLNAR  EMEE
BREBLEEWHABTEHRD B NERRIRE
TR HEESNE -

FERY

ARR 2 EBEBRBERDHBE - RN
KEE - SMBRRZ T REBREMAHEHN
BT RRMITEB -

BRAMBRFEARBRZERAN - SRR
ROFEES ©

FREFRRHUER

ATHERAFEIEEP REEREDAMEAS
BHE LXBEE I ER

Percentage of the Group’s total

HAREE
The largest customer BARF 43.46%
Five largest customers in aggregate BRREFER 64.39%
The largest supplier BAMER 9.16%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate BRARHEEEER 30.00%

One of the five largest suppliers and one of the five largest customers was
San Miguel Corporation (“SMC") and its associates (collectively the “San
Miguel Group”) in which Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr.
Ramon G. Torralba (resigned effective 16 January 2022), Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta,
Mr. Roberto N. Huang, Mr. Fumiaki Ozawa, Mr. Reynato S. Puno, Mr. Carmelo
L. Santiago, Mr. Kenji Uchiyama, Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi and Mr. Raymundo Y.
Albano (appointed to replace Mr. Torralba effective 16 January 2022) have
beneficial interests to the extent that they have/had equity interests in and/or
are/were directors and/or officers of the San Miguel Group.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year have the directors, their
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

[
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RECOMMENDED DIVIDENDS

The directors have resolved that no final dividend be declared for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, including the analysis
using financial key performance indicators, and the outlook of the Group’s
business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section from pages 7 to
12 of this Annual Report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
which faced the Group in 2021 can be found in the Chairman’s Statement,
including the financial risks mentioned in note 24 to the financial statements.

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 25 November
2020, Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Co., Ltd. ("GSMB") commenced the
liquidation process on 30 November 2020 after the expiry of its business
term on 29 November 2020, in accordance with the applicable laws of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). Accordingly, the shareholders of GSMB
established a liguidation team for GSMB to carry out the liquidation of GSMB
throughout the liquidation period (the “Liquidation Team”). GSMB is an equity
Joint Venture formed in 1990 between San Miguel (Guangdong) Limited (“SMG”
and Guangzhou Brewery (“GB") and is held as to 70% by SMG and as to 30%
by GB. SMG is 92.989%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The principal
activity of GSMB prior to the commencement of the liquidation process was
the distribution of bottled, canned and draught beers in the South China
market. During the liquidation process, the Liquidation Team determined that
the assets of GSMB were insufficient to settle its debts. Despite the efforts
undertaken by the Liquidation Team, GSMB was unable to reach a settlement
with its creditors. In view thereof, pursuant to the Enterprise Bankruptcy
Law of the PRC, on 21 January 2022, the Liquidation Team caused the filing
of an application for bankruptcy of GSMB with the Guangzhou Intermediate
People’s Court, PRC.

An announcement was made by the Company on 21 January 2022 in this
respect.

Save for those disclosed in the Chairman’s Statement in this Annual Report
and the foregoing, there were no other important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

The Company defines stakeholders as all those who affect, and/or are
affected by, its business. It embraces both internal and external stakeholders,
ranging from employees, trade partners, shareholders, suppliers, government
and local communities. The Company believes that engaging stakeholders
is crucial for the sustainability of its business, as this does not just help
the Company understand the possible risks and opportunities to its
business, but also makes possible the actual mitigation of the risks and
the full comprehension of the opportunities to its business. The Company
also communicates with them through various channels to ensure that
its stakeholders are made aware of and understand its business and/or
products.

The Company endeavors to protect the environment in which it operates its
business. During the year under review, there was no material noncompliance
in relation to air and greenhouse gas emission, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. The Company
also endeavors to further improve the management of the different Company
resources and its operations to prevent pollution and minimize waste, and is
committed to continuously train and encourage all its employees to be more
environmentally conscious.

During the year under review, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, a discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) is included in the Corporate Governance
Report section from page 40 to 55 of this Annual Report. A discussion on the
Company'’s financial statements’ compliance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) is also included in note 1 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE AND OTHER DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$16,000 (2020: HK$16,500).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23(b) to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report are set out
on page 2 of this Annual Report.

With the exception of Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. who was appointed
as independent non-executive director on 25 October 2021 to replace
Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago, all of the directors served as such for the full year
of 2021. Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano was appointed as executive director and
managing director effective 16 January 2022, replacing Mr. Ramon G. Torralba.

Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago passed away peacefully in the Philippines on
6 August 2021. Mr. Ramon G. Torralba resigned as executive director and
managing director effective 16 January 2022 in order to devote more of his
time to his family and to pursue his other interests.

Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K. P Li
and Mr. Reynato S. Puno retire by rotation in accordance with Article 105 of
the Company's Articles of Association at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. and Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano who were
appointed as directors after the last Annual General Meeting, retire from the
offices of director in accordance with Article 96 of the Company'’s Articles of
Association, and offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 or during the
period from 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual Report are available on
the Company'’s website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The directors of the Company as of 31 December 2021 had the following
personal interests in the shares of the Company, its holding companies,
subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) at that date as recorded in the
register of directors’ interests required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO:

(1)  INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES

EFEzER

B (BEHREEG) F32ER B FE2ESHE
mEEMRENE R —F+ZA=1+—
HeARREENERAFEARA - HEZERA
A [WB AR RHEMBMEANR (EER(EHLE
EIEHI) BBEITRAZ ERERSIT

(1) EBRTERAzER

Number of ordinary shares in the Company
AATRZEBRZRMOEE
Number of % of total
shares held issued shares

HERTRG
FRBE HMBzEIL

David K. P Li TEHE

Par Value

Types of  (Philippine

Shares pesos)

HE

REGER CEEERZR)

Ramon S. Ang 325 common 1.00
L&

Carlos Antonio M. Berba SRR Common 1.00
i

Roberto N. Huang HER Common 1.00

——

18

12,000,000 3.21%

Number shares in
Top Frontier Investment
Holdings, Inc.

Top Frontier Investment

Holdings, Inc. ~ 4 8B
Total % of total
Direct Indirect  number of issued
ownership  ownership shares held shares
EEBRTRE
EERE BERE FRUEAY BB

75887 86,658,351 86,734,238 25.907003%

364 - 364 0.000109%

3,039 - 3039 0.000908%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (Continued) ERzia (9
(1) INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES (Continued) (1) BRITREZESR (8)

Number of shares in
San Miguel Corporation

EHBEARZROEE

Par Value Total % of total

Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect  number of issued

Shares pesos) ownership  ownership shares held shares

& EERTRG

REGER CEEEEZR) HERE BiEEE FRUEAY BB

Ramon S. Ang BEX Common 5.00 1345429 373,623,796 374,969,225  11.057337%
i

Carlos Antonio M. Berba SRR Common 5.00 2,600 — 2,600 0.000077%
L@

Roberto N. Huang HER Common 5.00 42,397 — 42,397 0.001250%

Reynato S. Puno Reynato S.Puno  Common 5.00 5,000 — 5000  0.000147%
L

Number of shares

In San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc.
San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc.

ZRAEE
Par Value Total % of total
Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect  number of issued
Shares pesos) ownership  ownership shares held shares
G EEBTRG
RAER CERERER) HERE MERE FRYEAY #¥zAHR
Ramon S. Ang R Common 1.00 10 — 10 0.000000%
L@
Roberto N. Huang HER Common 1.00 10 — 10 0.000000%
g il
Note: Fff3E
All shares in San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. (“SMFB") were held by the FRE =454 2 FASan Miguel Food and Beverage,
directors as corporate interests. Inc. ([SMFB)) Z B&H 9 A /A RliEL ©
[
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (Continued) EFEzHa (B
(1) INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES (Continued) (1) EBBITREIzZER (8
Number of shares
in San Miguel Brewery Inc.

EneERARZREBE

Par Value Total % of total
Types of  (Philippine Direct Indirect  number of issued
Shares pesos) ownership  ownership shares held shares
e EEBTRE
RAER CEEERZR) HERE BiERE FRYEAY LA
Ramon S. Ang 325 common 1.00 5,000 - 5000 0.000033%
A
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SIEE Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
i
Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta common 1.00 10,000 — 10,000 0.000065%
Roberto N. Huang B3R Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
L@
Kenji Uchiyama mlE= Common 1.00 5,000 — 5,000 0.000033%
A
Tomoki Yamauchi R Common 1.00 5,000 — 5000  0.000033%
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno Common 1.00 5,000 — 5000  0.000033%
L&
Note: FisE
Other than the common shares in San Miguel Brewery Inc. (“SMB") which were held % Alonzo Q. Ancheta ¢4 & Reynato S. Puno 7t
by Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta and Mr. Reynato S. Puno as personal interests, all common ERENERBAE ([E£IEER]) s 2
shares in SMB were held by directors as corporate interests. LBERBEAERIN AESHEZFBEN

MR BB RN AR -
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (Continued)

(2)

INTERESTS IN UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2021, the directors do not have interests in any
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
above within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

All interests in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations above are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. Apart
from the foregoing, none of the directors of the Company or any of
their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations, as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as adopted by
the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, directors, managers or
other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of their office or otherwise in
relation thereto, provided that such indemnity provisions in the Company’s
Articles of Association shall only have effect in so far they are not avoided by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Such provisions were in force during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and remained in force as of the date of
this Annual Report.

EREzHz (8
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the Company’s
issued shares at 31 December 2021 amounting to 5% or more of the ordinary

shares in issue:

FERRREOMREREMcHER

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8 KQATIEXN
IERRA T BITE BRI 5% s A FHYARRARIE 3

Inigo Zobel (note 1)
Top Frontier Investment Holdings,
Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Corporation (note 1)
Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (note 1)
San Miguel Food and Beverage,
Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Brewery Inc. (note 1)
San Miguel Brewing International
Limited (note 1)
Neptunia Corporation Limited (note 1)
Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (note 2)
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (note 2)

Notes:

Inigo Zobel (MIFE1)

Top Frontier Investment Holdings,
Inc. (BFEE1)

ENBARTF (MEE1)

BB R gt (BEEE1)

San Miguel Food and Beverage,
Inc. (PH5E1)

E B AR (FEET)

ENEBEBRERAT (M)

ImMARRA (HEE1)
RTREERBRAR (KE2)
FRTIMEEXEBRAR (ME2)

M

IRigo Zobel, Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. (“Top Frontier”), the ultimate
holding company, San Miguel Corporation (“SMC"), SMFB, Kirin Holdings
Ccompany, Limited (“Kirin") (a principal shareholder of SMB), SMB, and San
Miguel Brewing International Limited (“SMBIL") are all deemed to hold the
above disclosed interest indirectly through Neptunia Corporation Limited
(“Neptunia”) in the Company because Ifigo Zobel has a controlling interest
in Top Frontier, Top Frontier has a controlling interest in SMC, SMC has a
controlling interest in SMFB, and SMFB and Kirin hold more than one third of
the voting power of SMB. SMB has a controlling interest in SMBIL and SMBIL
has a controlling interest in Neptunia.

Conroy Assets Limited, which holds 13,624,600 shares of the Company, and
Hamstar Profits Limited, which holds 10,078,400 shares of the Company, are
indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (“CKH")
and CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CK Hutchison”).

By virtue of the SFO, CKH and CK Hutchison are deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Conroy Assets Limited and Hamstar Profits
Limited.

TR R
Ordinary shares
ZERR G
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
245,720,800 65.78%
23,703,000 6.34%
23,703,000 6.34%

MIEE

FRR IRigo Zobel#54 Top Frontier Investment
Holdings, Inc (.[Top Frontier]) » A4 A
A ZPERRREZRS > Top Frontier BB 4 H &R
RIZPEREAERS - £ B AR E SMFB Z 15 %
WSS RSMFB M B i dk & it (TRELBE D)
(BENEEBRzEERE) SEFEENE
B =07 — A EZIRERE - ENEEREE
EAEEBEEERAR ([EHEEBEE]) 2
VR 25 I A 0 B B PR 4% B S R B BR A A
(T3z367 ) Z3EpAERS - Btk IRigo Zobel ~Top
Frontier + 4 H#2 A &] - SMFB ~ il - 4 H2
S R K% HE 7 R [ R 3 45 4R A B 38 38 T i )
A Ll BER AN R 2 o

Conroy Assets Limited+5 & Z& 2 713,624,600
% % 15 F2 Hamstar Profits Limited ¥ & 748 2 &)
10,078,400 % ix 17 * HEARITCEIERER
AR (RIIGEER]) ERIMZEEZFRA
A ([RM)) zEE2EREEHME AR -

BRIB(ELERPEEG) RICELRREER
15 3 A8 A& ¥ A /B Conroy Assets Limited &
Hamstar Profits Limited 3% 8 2 AN A RIAR {5 2 #
[
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Pursuant to an agreement dated 12 June 1963, Neptunia provides technical
and advisory services to the Company and may be paid a General Managers'
commission. General Managers’ commission has not been paid by the
Company or charged by Neptunia since the 1995 financial year. Mr. Ramon S.
Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr. Ramon G. Torralba (resigned effective
16 January 2022), Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Roberto N. Huang, Mr. Fumiaki
Ozawa, Mr. Reynato S. Puno, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago, Mr. Kenji Uchiyama,
Mr. Tomoki Yamauchi and Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano (appointed to replace
Mr. Torralba effective 16 January 2022) are interested parties to the above
contract and to the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions below to the extent that they have/had equity interests in and/
or are/were directors and/or officers of SMBIL, SMB, SMFB, SMC and/or Top
Frontier, the ultimate holding company of Neptunia.

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or associated corporations was a party, and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest (other than Mr. Ramon S.
Ang who has a substantial interest in the shares of Top Frontier and SMC
as disclosed in the section “Directors Interests” in this report, and who
accordingly abstained from the voting on the Company’s entering into of
these transactions), subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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San Miguel Cerveza
Blanca performed very
well throughout 2021
and became one of the
highest-selling brands
in our portfolio of
premium, specialty, and
craft beers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

REX 7R SHERERX S

(1) TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED (1) EBEEHEEESEFBENRERERS
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group HEE HEFEHER
In order to comply with the Listing Rules, the Company entered into AfE EmRE - AAFEA NERFTR
an agreement with SMC on 5 March 2019 (“Agreement”) with a view —E-NEFZRRAHY—HhinEE ([H
to renewing the agreement to carry out the trade-related continuing ZED)UMETHEN _E_EF—A
connected transactions from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 —HE-ZE-—F+-A=+—RHiErTHE
under the same terms and conditions as those under the agreements BoBBNRERERS - &inE 2GR
entered into by SMC and the Company dated 11 March 2005, 6 REHER -_EERF=/A+—QH =&
December 2007, 11 May 2009, 15 October 2010, 7 March 2013 and 4 ZHE+-ARNH —EZENFERB+—
February 2016 in respect of such trade-related continuing connected B —Z—ZTF+A+HB - —T—=F
transactions. —AtEERZZE-R"F_AEEHARATA
HANBARRI 2 HE S BRNFER
ERXZMHEMER e

The Agreement, including the trade-related continuing connected HaEE (BIEEESEENFERERS
transactions and the caps set for such transactions, was approved by FHESTSHGER) ER-_E—NAFNA
independent shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the ZHRNERARFNRERERIAENEE
Company held on 26 April 2019. SRR ©
Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group entered into the following RAEERN  AEERBHBESETUT
trade-related continuing connected transactions during the year HEGERNBERERS -
Purchase of packaging materials by the AEERAEHEE

Group from the San Miguel Group HEBREMK 4,270 42,000
Purchase of packaged beer by the AEBAAENEE

Group from the San Miguel Group BEEREEH 2,900 3,700
Sales of packaged beer and non-alcoholic AEBEMAENEEHE

beverage products by the Group to the BB R EE &k IEE SR M

San Miguel Group, provided that such sales or Em - ZEMTERIFREHS

distribution of packaged beer shall not be (85 HEE RN RS SR IN)

carried out in the Philippines,

unless through SMB 258,832 336,000
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1)

TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
(Continued)

Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group (Continued)

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “"Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its ungualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 26 to 27
of this Annual Report in accordance with the Main Board Listing
Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

In anticipation of the expiration of the Agreement on 1 January 2023,
the Company entered into an agreement with SMC on 7 March 2022
("Renewal Agreement”) with a view to further renewing the agreement
to carry out the trade-related continuing connected transactions
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 under the same terms and
conditions as those under the agreements entered into by SMC and
the Company dated 11 March 2005, 6 December 2007, 11 May 2009,
15 October 2010, 7 March 2013, 4 February 2016 and 5 March 2019 in
respect of such trade-related continuing connected transactions.

The Renewal Agreement, including the trade-related continuing
connected transactions and the annual caps set for such transactions,
shall be tabled for approval by the independent shareholders at the
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company to be held on 25 April
2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS

GSMB is an equity joint venture formed between SMG and GB and is
held as to 70% by SMG and as to 30% by GB. SMG is a 92.989%-owned
subsidiary of the Company and GB is a connected person of the
Company by virtue of its substantial shareholding in GSMB. To
facilitate the business operations of GSMB, San Miguel International
Limited ("SMIL") (@ member of the San Miguel Group) and GB have
each granted GSMB a license to use their respective trademarks upon
establishment of GSMB (the “SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement”
and the “GB Trademark Licensing Agreement”, respectively).

Apart from the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement, the Group
has also entered into other license agreements with certain other
members of the San Miguel Group: (i) the Neptunia Sub-license
Agreement entered into between the Company and Neptunia (an
indirect subsidiary of SMC) and (i) the SMBIL Sub-license Agreement
entered into between SMGB and SMBIL (an indirect subsidiary of
SMC).

The transactions under the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement, the
Neptunia Sublicense Agreement and the SMBIL Sub-license Agreement
(collectively, the “San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements”) (which
have been aggregated as a single transaction for purposes of the
Listing Rules) and the GB Trademark Licensing Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.34(1) of the Listing
Rules. The annual royalties payable by the Group under each of (i) the
San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements and (i) the GB Trademark
Licensing Agreement shall be less than HK$10 million for the year
ended 31 December 2007 and each of the financial years during the
remaining term of the relevant license/sub-license agreements. Based
on this proposed cap, the transactions under each of (i) the San Miguel
Group Licensing Agreements and (ii) the GB Trademark Licensing
Agreement are only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements and are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement. An announcement was made by the Company
on 19 September 2007 in this respect.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

In relation to the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement and the
Neptunia Sub-license Agreement, all royalties receivable from GSMB
and the Company have been assigned and transferred to SMBIL
effective 1 January 2000.

On 1 April 2010, a Deed of Assignment was entered into between
SMIL, SMBIL and GSMB pursuant to which SMIL agreed to assign,
transfer and convey in favour of SMBIL all of SMIL's rights, title and
interest over the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement. Both SMBIL
and GSMB consented to such assignment pursuant to the Deed of
Assignment.

After the assignment, SMBIL became the licensor of the trademarks
licensed to GSMB under the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement. All
other terms of the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement as assigned
to SMBIL remain unchanged. The transaction contemplated under the
SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement as assigned to SMBIL (“SMBIL
Trademark Licensing Agreement”) continues to constitute a continuing
connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. An
announcement was made by the Company on 1 April 2010 in this
respect.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

Meanwhile, the business term of GSMB expired on 29 November 2020
in accordance with the terms of its Articles of Association and the
Joint Venture Contract between SMG and GB. As a result of the expiry
of the business term of GSMB, GSMB ceased business operations and
the SMBIL Trademark Licensing Agreement and the GB Trademark
Licensing Agreement have been terminated as of the end of day
on 29 November 2020, and GSMB's business operations ceased on
30 November 2020. Following GSMB's cessation of business
operations, San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Co., Ltd. (“SMGB"),
another PRC subsidiary of the Company that had been serving as the
production source of the beer products being sold by GSMB under the
“San Miguel” related trademarks, began the selling and distribution
of the said beer products in the South China market commencing
30 November 2020. In view thereof, on 30 November 2020, SMBIL
and SMGB entered into a new trademark licensing agreement (the
“New SMBIL Trademark License Agreement”). The territorial coverage,
licensed trademarks, rate and manner of computation of royalties
under the New SMBIL Trademark License Agreement, among others,
are essentially the same as those under the terminated SMIL
Trademark Licensing Agreement. An announcement was made by the
Company on 30 November 2020 in this respect.

The transactions under the Neptunia Sublicense Agreement, New
SMBIL Trademark License Agreement and the SMBIL Sub-license
Agreement (collectively, the “New San Miguel Group Licensing
Agreements”) (which have been aggregated as a single transaction
for purposes of the Listing Rules) constituted continuing connected
transactions under Rule 14A.34(1) of the Listing Rules. The annual
royalties payable by the Group under the New San Miguel Group
Licensing Agreements shall be less than HK$10 million for each of the
financial years during the remaining term of the relevant license/sub-
license agreements. Based on this proposed cap, the transactions
under the New San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements are only
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements and are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement. An
announcement was made by the Company on 30 November 2020 in
this respect.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

The amount of royalties paid to GB and the San Miguel Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 were HK$nil and HK$1,678,000
respectively (2020: HK$ 1,647,000 and HK$948,000).

The directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
of the Company have reviewed the foregoing agreements and the
continuing connected transactions contemplated therein, including
their respective tenures, some of which were for more than three
years, and confirmed that such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
foregoing continuing connected transactions in accordance with
the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued their unqualified
letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of
the foregoing continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on pages 28 to 33 of this Annual Report in accordance with
Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

In anticipation of the expiration of the Neptunia Sub-license
Agreement on 1 January 2022, and in order to have a direct license
arrangement with the trademarks owner of “San Miguel” related
trademarks registered in Hong Kong and Macau instead of a sub-
license arrangement with Neptunia under the Neptunia Sub-license
Agreement, the Company entered into a new trademark licensing
agreement (“New SMBIL-SMBHK Trademark License Agreement”)
with SMBIL on 25 October 2021 for the exclusive right to use the “San
Miguel” related trademarks in the production, sale and distribution of
beer in Hong Kong and Macau for three years from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2024. The territorial coverage, licensed trademarks, and
rate and manner of computation of royalties under the New SMBIL-
SMBHK Trademark License Agreement, among others, are essentially
the same as those under the Neptunia Sub-license Agreement,
although the list of covered territories and licensed trademarks
has been updated. The transactions under the New SMBIL-SMBHK
Trademark License Agreement shall constitute continuing connected
transactions under Rule 14A.34(1) of the Listing Rules. It is expected
that the annual royalties payable by the Company under the New
SMBIL-SMBHK Trademark License Agreement, when aggregated with
the other trademark licensing and sub-licensing agreements with
the San Miguel group shall be less than HK$10 million for each of
the year of its term. Accordingly, the transactions are only subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements and are exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
the Listing Rules. The directors (including the independent non-
executive directors) consider the terms of the New SMBIL-SMBHK
Trademark License Agreement are fair and reasonable, and on normal
commercial terms or better, and that the transactions thereunder are
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company and in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as
a whole. An announcement was made by the Company on 25 October
2021 in this respect.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
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OTHER CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE
SAN MIGUEL GROUP

The Group purchased brewing materials and other raw materials from
the San Miguel Group during the year, which amounted to HK$134,000
(2020: HK$793,000). The Group also sold raw materials and packaging
materials to subsidiaries of SMC during the year, which amounted to
HK$nil (2020: HK$16,000). These transactions were all exempt from the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements according to Chapter 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules (De
minimis transactions). Also, as set out in note 26(a) to the financial
statements, interest expense of HK$1,222,000 (2020: HK$2,238,000)
was paid for the loan from an intermediate holding company. These
transactions were also exempt from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement according to the
Chapter 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

The Group has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions stated above.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have sponsored
noncontributory defined benefit scheme, The San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong
Limited Retirement Fund (“Fund”), which covers local permanent employees
and was registered in September 1995 under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance. The Fund's assets are held in trust and administered by
a trustee. The members' benefits are determined based on the employees
final remuneration and length of service. Contributions to the Fund are made
in accordance with the recommendations of independent actuaries who
value the retirement scheme at regular intervals, usually triennially.

The Fund was granted exemption from the Mandatory Provident Fun
("MPF") regulations by the MPF Scheme Authority on 24 July 2000, following
modifications to the Fund benefits which comply with MPF regulations.

The latest actuarial assessment of the Fund was carried out as at 1 January
2021 the results were as follows:

Q) the latest actuarial assessment of the Fund was prepared by
independent qualified staff of Mercer (Hong Kong) Limited. In the
actuarial valuation, the attained age method was used. Other major
assumptions used in the valuation were: investment return of 3% per
annum; long-term salary escalation of 4% per annum; mortality rates
under the 2019 Hong Kong Life Tables; normal retirement age of 60
years; and early retirement rates allowed between the ages 55 to 60
years,

2) the unaudited market value of the Fund assets was HK$111,077,000
as at 1 January 2021;

(3) the minimum level of funding as recommended by the actuary of the
Fund was 4.6% of salaries for 2021, 2022 and 2023; and

(4) the solvency surplus was HK$15,042,000, i.e., the obligation under the
Fund was 116% covered by the Fund’s assets, as at 1 January 2021.

Particulars of the employee retirement plans of the Company and the Group
are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

36

ER:RFEEHE

RRBREFENBRBERESRHEIEHRTD
FERMENREE - BREA i?‘]ﬂﬁ/@**ﬁﬂﬁ
NERRES ((E2)) - AEZ B HERIE
g jﬁﬁé—ﬂﬂﬁihﬂ$E'<TFH&%%EWJ%MM§IJ
ifft - RS EERAERBHELIATE - ETH
BHREBERE 2 &ZEHE MERBFRTE -
ﬁ%ZT URDIRIBB AR 2 2B METE - 15

B E IR ET EEL S - —RAB=F4

——r
IN°

EeEMNEBTRETAREERGEN  XER =
ETETRFLA - THBEEGERH A B SERE
RrF#%R

_;lﬂgi*%:u¥1ﬁﬁ/\fi 7—£E H— El
7 @BRWOT -

(1) wO—XESHBETHHEE (BB B
RARI BT EEEERABHETT - f5H
FEHEAREFRIESKNAE - HEF
FrRAEMERRER  RERREF
3% REFHeEFERI% —T—NF
BBEANZIT R EBRIKRFEREOBR
VAR B8 55 & 60 BRAVIR AR IR EL 2K

Q) EAvEAER-F-—F-A—AZAE
ZmEA 111,077,000/ 7T :

Q EsHBEMREEE_T_—F —%
::E*D_E::¢ZE§{EET#?K%?Z%¥F
B248.6% ;

@  EHEMWEGELE 515,042,000 7T © Bt
AN T - —F—A—AZEGEEN
1M6% EHEERLE -

ARRARAEEZEER
FRMIFE20 -

REEEF RN



ERENREBMERAR ZE—FFH

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE=# 4%

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's working capital at 31 December 2021 was net current assets of
HK$112,459,000 compared with HK$113,520,000 as at 31 December 2020.

The Group’s cash and bank deposits (excluding pledged deposits) as at
31 December 2021 were HK$132,386,000 (2020: HK$156,109,000) and are
sufficient to fund working capital requirements and capital expenditure in
2022.

LOANS

The Group has a loan from an intermediate holding company of
HK$38,383,000 (2020: HK$89,035,000) and a loan from a related company of
HK$ HK$3,968,000 (2020: HK$3,854,000). Total borrowings at 31 December
2021 for the Group were HK$42,351,000 (2020: HK$92,889,000).

Particulars of the loan from an intermediate holding company and the loan
from a related company of the Company and the Group as at 31 December
2021 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 144 of this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance section on pages 40 to 55 of this Annual
Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.
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AUDITORS % BEm

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A’ EEFEMSEBA T RS ETESEET -5
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company isto  FEREER @I EEATIETAR TZEE 2

be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. FERBNERERRBAEAE LREE -
By order of the board AEEDm

Ramon S. Ang FE

Chairman BREX

Hong Kong, 7 March 2022 B/E T F=HtAR

[
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COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE B HMISOREBARKE

The Company is committed to maintaining compliance with statutory
and regulatory standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness. The board and the senior management of the
Company ensure that effective self-regulatory practices exist to protect
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. These include a board
comprised of high calibre members, board committees and effective internal
systems and controls.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code throughout
year under review as contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save for
the deviations discussed below:

o All of the non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term
(Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code) but are subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and re-election at the
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

o A vacancy existed in the position of Chairman of the Nomination
Committee (Code Provision A.5.1 of the CG Code) in view of the
untimely passing of one of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago, who is the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee, on 6 August 2021 as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 August 2021. The vacancy existed
for this position until the appointment of Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta as his
replacement on 25 October 2021.

The following sections set out the principles in the CG Code as they have
been applied by the Company, including any deviation therefrom, for the year
under review.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2021, the board is comprised of twelve directors (one
executive director, who is the managing director, seven non-executive
directors and four independent non-executive directors) who possess the
skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group. The biographies of the directors
are set out from pages 57 to 65 of this Annual Report under the “Directors
and Management Executives” section. There is no financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationship among the members of the board.
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THE BOARD (Continued) BEE ()
The management and control of the business of the Company is vested in its A AFEBHEIENENEBENEEe - 25
board. It is the duty of the board to create value for the shareholders of the BB EENAKRATIREAEEE 5] NAQT
Company, establish the Company'’s strategic direction, set the Company’s  #IEE M - RILBRTEAATMBIZRETE - 4

objectives and plan in accordance therewith, and provide leadership and
ensure availability of resources in the attainment of such objectives. The
board is bound to manage the Company in a responsible and effective
manner, and therefore every director ensures that he carries out his duty
in good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

The board and the executive management have clearly defined
responsibilities under various internal control and checks-and-balance
mechanisms. The board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
executive management of the Company. These responsibilities include:
implementation of the decisions of the board and organisation and direction
of the day-to-day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the board;
preparation and monitoring of annual production plans and operating budget;
and control, supervision and monitoring of capital, technical and human
resources.

The board held four meetings during the year under review. The chief finance
officer and company secretary attended all the scheduled board meetings
to report matters arising from corporate governance, risk management,
statutory compliance, accounting and finance, and kept detailed minutes
of each meeting which are available for all directors. At the meetings, the
directors discussed and formulated overall strategies for the Company,
monitored financial performance, approved transactions requiring board
approval, and discussed the annual and interim results, as well as other
significant matters. Daily operational matters are delegated to management.

At least fourteen days of notice of all board meetings was given to all
directors, and all directors were given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. An agenda and accompanying board papers are
sent in full to all directors at least three days before every board meeting.
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THE BOARD (Continued) EEE (B

The number of board meetings and committee meetings attended by each REIEEERN  SEESHEFESeeZNETES
director during the year under review is set out in the following table. Figure — €z HXEEFH N T & - FWHRANRFIEEBA L
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period in  AEExemExdiEEZEeKE (BEBAIE M
which the individual was a board member or board committee member (as &) RN S Z LN -

the case may be).

Scheduled Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
board committee committee  committee General
Note meetings  meetings  meetings  meetings Meeting

EEESE BEUZEE FMZRE REZEE BX
(F3d g3 g3 g3 g%  BEAE

Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES

Alonzo Q Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta 4/(4) 2/(2) N/A 1/(1) 1/(1)
Thelmo Luis 0. Cunanan Jr. Thelmo Luis 0. Cunanan Jr. m 1/(1) N/A N/A N/A N/A
David K.P Li TEE 4/4) 2/2) 2/2) 1) 1)
Carmelo L. Santiago i i 203 10 110 N/A 110
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno 4/14) N/A 22) (1) 111)
Sum Li (Alternate to David K.P. L) TR (FHEEFES) 0/(4) 0/2) 0/2) 0/(1) 0/(1)
Executive director yrEzs
Ramon G. Torralba (Managing Director) HEE (H7EF) 4/() N/A N/A N/A 1)
Non-executive directors HiTES
Ramon S. Ang (Chairman) BEY (1FE) 4/14) N/A N/A N/A 1/01)
Carlos Antonio M. Berba (Deputy Chairman) JER (AER) 4/() N/A 2/2) N/A 10
May (Michelle) W. M. Chan BEX 3/4) N/A N/A N/A 1/(1)
Roberto N. Huang BER 4/() N/A 2/(2) N/A 110)
Fumiaki Ozawa INEF R 4/4) N/A N/A N/A 1/(1)
Kenji Uchiyama AlE= 4/4) N/A N/A ) )
Tomoki Yamauichi IR 4/(4) N/A N/A N/A 10
Notes: PR -
1, Appointed as independent non-executive director and as member of the Audit, 7. MREB-—F+A-THREZERBILIFHR
Remuneration and Nomination Committees on 25 October 2021. TE=E-
2. Passed away on 6 August 2021. He was the Chairman of the Nomination 2. RZZEZ—F \ANA#t o ?&%&%%éé
Committee and a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees. BIRMERZEGRFHEZE GRS -
I
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THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman of the board is Mr. Ramon S. Ang. The chief executive officer (or
managing director, in the case of the Company) was Mr. Ramon G. Torralba.
In the Company’s announcement dated 1 December 2021, Mr. Raymundo
Y. Albano was appointed as the executive director and managing director
effective 16 January 2022 to replace Mr. Ramon G. Torralba. The chairman’s
and the managing director’s roles are clearly defined to ensure their
independence, accountability and responsibility.

The chairman takes the lead in formulating overall strategies and policies
of the Company; ensures the effective performance by the board of its
functions, including compliance with good corporate governance practices;
and encourages and facilitates active contribution of directors in board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive
directors. The chairman also ensures effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and receipt by the directors of adequate and
complete information. The role of deputy chairman is carried out by Mr.
Carlos Antonio M. Berba.

The managing director, supported by other board members and the senior
management, is responsible for managing the day-to-day business of the
Company. He is also accountable to the board for the implementation of the
Company'’s overall strategies, and coordination of overall business operations.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE

As at the date of this Annual Report, the board consists of eleven non-
executive directors and one executive director. Four of the non-executive
directors are independent. Further details of the composition of the board
can be found in the section entitled “The Board” of this Annual Report.

All of the non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term, but
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the directors, as
well as directors who at an annual general meeting of the Company shall
have been a director at each of the preceding two annual general meetings
and were not elected or re-elected at either annual general meetings, and
who has not ceased to be a director and been re-elected at or since either
at such annual general meetings, are subject to retirement, rotation and re-
election at each annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' INDEPENDENCE (Continued)

In addition, under the Company'’s Articles of Association, any director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the board shall only
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account in
determining the directors who will retire by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. Thelmo
Luis O. Cunanan Jr. who replaced Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago as independent
non-executive director on 25 October 2021 and Mr. Raymundo Y. Albano who
replaced Mr. Ramon G. Torralba as Executive Director on 16 January 2021,
shall retire at the next annual general meeting of the Company, and shall be
eligible for re-election.

Each director, upon reasonable request, is given access to independent
professional advice in circumstances he may deem appropriate and
necessary for the discharge of his duties to the Company, at the expense of
the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors are expected to participate in the activities of the
board, particularly in the establishment of a selection process to ensure a
mix of competent directors and officers; adoption of a system of internal
checks and balances; scrutiny of the Company’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives; and ensuring that the exercise of
board authority is within the powers conferred to the board under its Articles
of Association, by-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of
accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise and number in the
board ensure that strong independent views and judgment are brought in
the board’s deliberations and that such views and judgment carry weight in
the board'’s decision-making process. Their presence and participation also
enable the board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company and the
Company.

Each independent non-executive director gives the Company an annual
confirmation of his independence. In this connection, the independent non-
executive directors have provided their respective annual confirmation
of independence for the year under review. The Company considers such
directors to be independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing all information
and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company
for the year under review. The directors consider that the financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the board
and management with an appropriate consideration to materiality. As at 31
December 2021, the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the financial statements of
the Company on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to financial reporting
are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 134 to
140 of this Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company performed the High Level Risk Assessment for the Group
and enhanced the Group's framework for its risk management and internal
control system. Key business objectives and risk parameters were updated
and determined to assess the level of inherent risk.

Based on these business objectives and risk parameters, the key risks of the
Group and improvement opportunities to address these risks were identified.
The Group's internal controls in place were also tested and evaluated so as
to determine its effectiveness and the level of residual risk.

The Group's risk management framework is based on the “Three Lines of
Defense” model.

1. The Management team is responsible for the continuous identification,
assessment, monitoring and reporting of risks and opportunities in
their respective areas, the planning and implementation of actions
to manage these risks; and escalation of these risks that exceed the
tolerance limits to the Managing Director and Business Control team.

2. The Business Control team conducts periodic review and challenge
of top risks impacting the Group'’s strategic objectives; escalates
the top risks to senior management and through them, to the Audit
Committee and the board for their review; and facilitates the risk
management process.

3. The Group Internal Audit Function provides assurance over the
effectiveness of controls in place to manage risk.
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INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (Continued)

For 2021, the board has conducted a review of the Company's internal
control systems, including financial, operational and compliance control
and risk management functions and assessed the effectiveness of internal
control by considering reviews performed by the audit committee, executive
management, external advisor and internal auditors. It considered that the
Group's risk management and internal control system was effective and
adequate.

The board acknowledges that it has the overall responsibility for maintaining
sound and effective risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, as well as for
reviewing their effectiveness. However, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As a member of a group with multiple listed issuers, the Group shares with
the San Miguel group’s resources in carrying out its internal audit function.
Its internal audit is performed by the internal audit function of its parent
company, SMB. The internal audit function directly reports to the audit
committee. For the year under review, due to government regulations and
travel restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group's internal
audit function was assisted by a Hong Kong-based audit firm in the conduct
of the audit fieldwork as approved by the Audit Committee. The scope of the
audit fieldwork of the audit firm was set by the Group's internal audit function,
and their conduct of the audit fieldwork was under the close supervision of
the Group's internal audit function from the planning stage up to the final
presentation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES
The board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance
functions set out below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

2 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

() reviewing and monitoring the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is fully cognizant of its disclosure obligations under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company
has included in its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions and
Dealings (“Code of Conduct”) and staff handbook a strict prohibition on
the unauthorised use of confidential or inside information. The Company’s
Code of Conduct is further discussed in the “Code of Conduct on Directors'
Securities Transactions” section of this Annual Report.

An Inside Information Policy has been adopted to ensure that Inside
Information of the Company is disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The Inside
Information Policy is available on the Company’'s website, info.sanmiguel.
com.hk.

SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

To assist the directors in the discharge of their duties, the Company provides
every newly appointed director with a comprehensive induction program on
the first occasion of his appointment, where such directors are provided with
information on the Company’s organization and business; the membership,
duties and responsibilities of the board, board committees and senior
management; corporate governance practices and procedures, and latest
financial information on the operations of the Company.

Throughout their tenure, the directors shall be provided with updates on the
business of the Company, latest developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, corporate social responsibility
matters and other changes affecting the Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the CG Code A.6.5, all directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.
The Company shall be responsible for arranging and funding suitable training,
placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the
directors.

The directors have complied with the CG Code requirement on directors’
training. The Company had received from each of the directors their
certificates of attendance at seminars for their continuous professional
training.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES EEEET
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

For the year under review, the audit committee comprised three independent
non-executive directors: Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago who
was later replaced by Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. on 25 October 2021,
and Dr. the Hon. Sir David K. P. Li, who acts as chairman of the committee.
The audit committee met two times in 2021 with full minutes kept by the
company secretary. Individual attendance of each committee member at
these meetings is shown in the table presented above.

Under its terms of reference, the audit committee shall assist the board in
fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation
to financial reporting, internal control structure, risk management systems
and internal and external audit functions. The audit committee is further
authorised by the board to investigate any activity within its terms of
reference, and is tasked with recommending to the board appropriate actions
emanating from such investigations. The audit committee has unrestricted
access to personnel, records, internal and external auditors, risk assessment
and assurance and senior management, as may be appropriate in the
discharge of its functions.

In 2021, the audit committee discharged its responsibilities by:

Q) making recommendations to the board on the reappointment of
the external auditor and approval of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

2 monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards, and discussing with the external auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations;

(3) implementing the Company's policy on the engagement of an external
auditor to supply non-audit services,

(4) reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual and interim reports and the
auditors’ report to ensure that the information presents a true and
balanced assessment of the Company'’s financial position;

(5) reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems to ensure that management has discharged
its duty to have effective systems including discussing the risk
management and internal control systems with management;

(6) ensuring the coordination between the internal and external auditors
and that the internal audit function is adequately resourced (including
in respect of manpower requirements) and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the audit function;,

—
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEZRE ()
AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) ERERE (B)
) reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and  (7) BRIARBINETE « @R LB
practices;
®) reviewing the external auditor's management letter, material queries  (8) BBEINEIZBENAE T B IR BRI - NI

raised by the external auditor to the management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and the
management’s response to such queries; and

9) reporting to the board on the matters set out in the CG Code on the
audit committee.

The audit committee is authorised by the board to obtain external legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of
outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers necessary
in the performance of its functions. The audit committee is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The audit
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

During the year under review, the total fees in respect of audit and non-audit
services (mainly tax advisory work and risk management advisory work)
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by external auditors amounted
to HK$3,203,000 (2020: HK$3,301,000) and HK$10,000 (2020: HK$106,000),
respectively.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

For the year under review, the remuneration committee comprised three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.P.
Li, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago who was later replaced by Mr. Thelmo Luis O.
Cunanan Jr. on 25 October 2021, and Mr. Reynato S. Puno, and two non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba and Mr. Roberto N.
Huang. The remuneration committee was chaired by an independent non-
executive director, namely Mr. Reynato S. Puno. The remuneration committee
met twice in 2021 with full minutes kept by the company secretary. Individual
attendance of each committee member at these meetings is shown in the
table presented above.

The primary role of the remuneration committee under its terms of reference
is to support and advise the board in fulfilling the board’s responsibility to the
shareholders of the Company to:

(1) establish coherent remuneration policies and practices that will be
observed and enable the Company to attract and retain top caliber
executives and directors;
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

2 fairly and responsibly reward executives based on their performance
and the performance of the Company, and the general pay
environment; and

(3) comply with the CG Code provisions on remuneration of directors,

mainly by:
o determining executive and director remuneration policy;,
o determining the remuneration of executive directors upon

consultation with the chairman or managing director regarding
their proposals for such remuneration;

J reviewing and approving the remuneration of the executives
who directly report to the managing director, and as
appropriate, other senior management; and

o reviewing and approving all equity-based plans.

The remuneration committee has the right to seek any information it
considers necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain
appropriate external advice at the Company’s expense, and is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The remuneration
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee reviewed the
remuneration package of the managing director and key senior executives.
As recommended, no directors’ fees will be paid for the year 2021.

Details of the remuneration of directors for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the year under review, the nomination committee comprised one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Kenji Uchiyama and four independent non-
executive directors: Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago who was
later replaced by Mr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. on 25 October 2021, Dr. the
Hon. Sir David K.P. Li, and Mr. Reynato S. Puno. The nomination committee is
chaired by an independent non-executive director, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago,
who was later replaced by Mr. Alonzo Q. Ancheta on 25 October 2021.
The nomination committee met once in 2021 with full minutes kept by the
company secretary.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Under its terms of reference, proceedings and meetings of the committee
will be governed by the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association
for regulating the proceedings and meetings of the board of the Company
in so far as they are applicable and not inconsistent with the nomination
committee’s terms of reference. The primary purpose of the committee is to
support and advise the board in fulfilling their responsibilities to shareholders
in ensuring that the board comprises individuals who are best able to
discharge the responsibilities of directors having regard to the law and the
highest standards of governance by:

(

—

) assessing the skills required for the board;

2) from time to time assessing the extent to which the required skills are
represented on the board;

(3) establishing the process for the review of the performance of
individual directors and the board as a whole;

(4) establishing the process for the identification of suitable candidates
for appointment to the board; and

(5) having oversight of matters relating to corporate governance by
bringing any issues to the attention of the board.

The nomination committee has the following responsibilities:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the board regarding any proposed changes;

2 identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

(3) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors,

(4) make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer;

(5) have oversight of all matters relating to corporate governance; and

(6) being entitled to employ, at the Company’s expense, the services of
such advisers as it deems necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued) BEZEES (B)

In the discharge of its responsibility in item (1), the Committee takes into
consideration, among others, that a diverse board of directors, with the
appropriate qualifications and broad range of expertise relevant to the
Company'’s business, is an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage in the complex business industry that the Company operates, and
embraces the policy that including and making use of increasing diversity
at the board level, which consists of differences in the skills, experience,
background, race, gender and other distinctions amongst directors, is
important to achieve effective corporate governance and sustained
commercial success of the Company. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the board and when possible are
balanced appropriately.

In addition, in identifying individuals and making recommendations for
nominations pursuant to its responsibility in item (2) above, the Committee
considers whether such individuals possess the qualifications, ability
and stature that would enable them to effectively fulfill their roles and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. The responsibilities of the
nomination committee in items (1) to (4) above as further set out in its
terms of reference form the key principles that constitute the Company’s
nomination policy.

The nomination committee has the right to seek any information it
considers necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain
appropriate external advice at the Company’s expense, and is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The nomination
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

CODE OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Code of Conduct based on the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”). The terms of the Code of Conduct
are no less exacting than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code
of Conduct applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the said code,
including the directors of the Company, any employee of the Company, or
a director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company
who, because of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its
securities.

There was no non-compliance by the directors with the required standards
set out in the Code of Conduct during the year under review.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great priority to establishing effective communications
with its shareholders and investors. In an effort to enhance such
communications, the Company provides information relating to the Company
and its business in its Annual Report and also disseminates such information
electronically through its website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

The Company also published its ESG Report on its website, info.sanmiguel.
com.hk. The ESG Report communicates to the Company’s stakeholders in a
broad manner the relevant environmental, social and governance initiatives
that the Company has made in reference to Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
The 2021 ESG Report will be published in the Company’s website within five
months after the financial year-end.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important event as it
provides an opportunity for direct communications between the board and its
shareholders. All directors and senior management make an effort to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to address shareholders’ queries.
For 2021, all directors and the external auditors of the Company attended the
annual general meeting, either physical or by remote communication.

All the shareholders of the Company are given a minimum of twenty
business days’ notice of the date and venue of the annual general meeting of
the Company. The Company supports the CG Code’s principle to encourage
shareholders’ participation.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To ensure that the business of the Group is conducted in the highest
standards of fairness, transparency and accountability, the Group has
its Whistleblowing Policy, which establishes procedures and channels
through which the directors, employees and other interested parties
may communicate concerns, in confidence, about any misconduct or
improprieties affecting the Group. The complete text of the Whistleblowing
Policy has been posted on the Company website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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Under the dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”), the board
may, from time to time, pay to the Company’s shareholders dividends in the
interim, semi-annually or at other suitable intervals to be determined by
the board, if the board is of the opinion that the position and profits of the
Company justify the payment. In deciding whether to declare dividends and
in determining the dividend amount, the board shall take into consideration
the performance, financial position, liquidity, implementation of business
plans, debt service requirements, operating expenses, budgets, funding
for new investments and acquisitions, appropriate reserves and working
capital, among others, of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the
general business and economic conditions. The payment of dividends by the
Company is also subject to the restrictions and conditions under the laws of
Hong Kong and the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Dividend Policy is subject to review and may be changed by the board at
any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
CALLING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings may also be convened on requisition
as provided by Sections 566, 567 and 568 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The directors are required to call a general meeting if the
Company has received requests to do so from shareholders of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having a right to vote at general meetings. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the meeting. Requests may consist of several documents in like form. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form;
and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it. The directors
must, within twenty-one days after the date on which they become subject
to the requirement, call an extraordinary general meeting which must be
held on a date not more than twenty-eight days after the date on which the
notice convening the meeting is given. If the directors fail to convene the
general meeting, the shareholders who requested the meeting, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves call an extraordinary general meeting. The meeting must
be called on a date not more than three months after the date on which the
directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.
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BRENLERERAT =B=—FFRK
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1t & 43R4
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued) BEERIEF (&)
PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT RREAZRHEBEZZER

SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a relevant right to vote; or not less than fifty shareholders
who have a relevant right to vote may:

— circulate to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of a general meeting, a statement of not more than 1000 words with
respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt
with at that meeting; or (b) other business to be dealt with at that
meeting; or

— request the Company to give, to members of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting.

For further details on the shareholder qualifications, and the procedures and
timeline in connection with the above, shareholders are kindly requested to
refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Further, a shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting at which
elections to the office of directors are to be considered. The following
documents must be submitted, no later than seven days before the date of
the general meeting, to the Company at its principal office at 9/F, Citimark
Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary: (a) the Director Nomination
Form with the required supporting documents; (b) the candidate’s resume;
and (c) a written statement signed by the candidate of his/her willingness
to be elected together with (i) that candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; (ii) the candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data; and (iii) confirmation
that there are no grounds for his/her ineligibility and incompatibility to
act as a director and that he/she satisfies the integrity and, if applicable,
independence requirements under the applicable Listing Rules. The complete
text of the procedure for shareholders to propose candidates for election
as directors at general meetings has been posted on the Company website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

SENDING ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company'’s Registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. Shareholders may also make enquiries
to the board by writing to the Company Secretary at the Company’s office
in Hong Kong at 9/F, Citimark Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES EERTHEE AR

DIRECTORS

Ramon S. ANG, Chairman

Carlos Antonio M. BERBA, Deputy Chairman
Raymundo Y. ALBANO, Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

May (Michelle) W.M. CHAN
Roberto N. HUANG
Fumiaki OZAWA

Kenji UCHIYAMA

Tomoki YAMAUCHI

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Alonzo Q. ANCHETA

Thelmo Luis O. CUNANAN Jr.

David K.P, LI, GBM, JP

Reynato S. PUNO

Sum LI, Alternate to David K.P. LI, GBM™, Jp

Mr. Ramon S. ANG, aged 68, is the Chairman and a non-executive Director
of the Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman since 10 June 2005
and a non-executive Director of the Company since 27 November 1998. He
is the Vice Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of San Miguel
Corporation (a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange); Director,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Top Frontier Investment Holdings,
Inc. (the ultimate parent company of the Company) and Petron Corporation
(all of which are companies listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange); Vice
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of San Miguel Food and
Beverage, Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange), Chairman
of Eagle Cement Corporation (a company listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange) and Petron Malaysia Refining & Marketing Bhd. (a company listed
on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange); and Director and President of Ginebra
San Miguel, Inc. (a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange). He is
also Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating Officer
of SMC Global Power Holdings Corp. (a company listed on the Philippine
Dealing & Exchange Corp.); Chairman of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company
listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.); Chairman and President
of San Miguel Holdings Corp., San Miguel Equity Investments Inc., San Miguel
Properties, Inc. and San Miguel Aerocity Inc.; Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of SMC Asia Car Distributors Corp.; Chairman of San Miguel Yamamura
Packaging Corporation, San Miguel Foods, Inc., Clariden Holdings, Inc.,
Anchor Insurance Brokerage Corporation, Philippine Diamond Hotel & Resort,
Inc., and SEA Refinery Corporation, Director and President of San Miguel
Northern Cement, Inc.; and Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of
Northern Cement Corporation. He is also the sole director and shareholder
of Master Year Limited and Chairman of Privado Holdings, Corp.. Mr. Ang
has held directorships in various domestic and international subsidiaries of
San Miguel Corporation. He formerly held the following positions: Chairman
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of Liberty Telecom Holdings, Inc. and Cyber Bay Corporation; President and
Chief Operating Officer of PAL Holdings, Inc. and Philippine Airlines, Inc,
Vice Chairman of Manila Electric Company; and Director of Air Philippines
Corporation. Mr. Ang holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical
Engineering from Far Eastern University and a Doctorate in Business
Engineering, Honoris Causa, from the same university.

Mr. Carlos Antonio M. BERBA, aged 57, was appointed as Deputy
Chairman and Remuneration Committee member of the Company on 27
August 2010. Mr. Berba has been a Director of the Company since 16 April
2007. He is the Managing Director of San Miguel Brewing International
Limited; and a Director of Neptunia Corporation Limited (a controlling
shareholder of the Company) and San Miguel Brewery Inc. (a company listed
on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.). He is also a Commissioner of
PT Delta Djakarta Thk (a company listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange); a
Director of San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Holdings (Thailand)
Limited, San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Limited, and other subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Berba has over 30 years of experience in general
management, finance, strategic planning and corporate structuring initiatives.
Mr. Berba graduated from the University of the Philippines with a Bachelor
of Science degree in Electrical Engineering. He later obtained a Master’s
degree in Business Administration (with distinction) from the Wharton School
of Business, University of Pennsylvania and a Master’s degree in Japanese
Business Studies from Japan America Institute of Management Science &
Chaminade University of Honolulu.

Mr. Raymundo Y. ALBANO, aged 61, was appointed as an Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company, the Chairman and Director
of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Co., Ltd., and Director of certain other
subsidiaries of the Company, with effect from 16 January 2022. He was the
General Manager and Director of San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited and
San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Limited from June 2017 to January 2022. He
was the President Director of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (a listed company on the
Indonesia Stock Exchange) and President Commissioner of PT Jangkar Delta
Indonesia (2010-2017); and General Manager (2005-2010) and National Sales
Manager (2004-2005) of San Miguel Brewery Vietnam Co., Ltd. He also served
the San Miguel Beer Division of San Miguel Corporation in various positions
from 1985-2003, including as Assistant Vice President and Sales Manager
for International Sales Operations (2003-2004) and Assistant Vice President
and Area Sales Manager (2000-2003). Mr. Albano graduated from the San
Pablo Seminary in the Philippines in 1980, with a bachelor of arts degree in
Philosophy/Sociology.
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Mr. Alonzo Q. ANCHETA, aged 89 was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 February 2017. He is currently
an Independent Director of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.) and PTFC Redevelopment Corporation
(@ company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange). He is the President of
Zobella & Co. (A.Q. Ancheta & Partners): Trademark & Patent Attorneys and
the Co-Founding Partner/Senior Adviser of Quasha Law (formerly Quasha
Ancheta Pefia & Nolasco Law Offices) He is also the Chairman and President
of Ogilvy & Mather Philippines, Inc.; President of Growe Investments Ltd.; and
a Member of the Board of Trustees of St. Luke’s Medical Center. Mr. Ancheta
also provided service for the Philippine Government as the Administrator
of National Tobacco Administration (1987 - 1990). Mr. Ancheta graduated
from the University of Manila with a Bachelor's degree in Arts (Magna cum
Laude) in 1953 and a Bachelor's degree in Laws (Cum laude) in 1957. He is a
lawyer (A.B., LL.B) by profession, with practice areas in intellectual property
law and commercial/corporate/family law and estates and succession. He is
also a member of various organizations, including the Intellectual Property
Association of the Philippines (Council Adviser, 1988- present), Philippine
Bar Association, Legal Management Council of the Philippines, Asian Patent
Attorneys Association (Honorary President, 2021-present), International
Trademark Association, LAWASIA (Vice President International, 2017-present),
Licensing Executives Society International, ASEAN Law Association, ASEAN
Intellectual Property Association, American Chamber of Commerce of the
Philippines, Canadian Chamber of Commerce of the Philippines, Philippine
American Guardian Association, Philippine-Japan Economic Committee,
Philippines-Japan Society, Inc., Rotary Club of Marikina, Jaycees International
(Senator) and For Love of Mother Earth, Inc.

Ms. May (Michelle) CHAN Wen Mee, aged 57, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 11 March 2011. Ms. Chan serves as Managing Director
of A.S. Watson Industries Limited. She served as Managing Director of
Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited from 1 February 2006 to 31 October 2010
and served as Executive Deputy Managing Director of Hutchison Harbour
Ring Limited from 18 May 2005 to 31 January 2006. Ms. Chan has extensive
experience in managing property development and investment businesses in
mainland China. She also holds directorships in certain companies controlled
by CK Hutchison Holdings Limited. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration.
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Mr. Thelmo Luis O. CUNANAN Jr., aged 51, is an Honorary Consul of
Georgia and an Honorary Vice Consul of Somalia in the Philippines. He is also
the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Philippine National Bobsled
Luge & Skeleton Association, Inc. (Philippine Bobsled Team); President of the
Philippines Georgia Business and Friendship Association; President of the
Philippines Somalia Business and Friendship Association; Television Presenter,
Producer and Programming Consultant of the Golden News Network (GNN),
Chairman and Founder of the Zoo Crew Philippines and 1FM Community
Inc. (First Filipino International Movement); and Director of the Earth Savers
Movement Inc. (Earth Savers Dream Ensemble). Mr. Cunanan Jr. is also
an Owner and Proprietor of Cochinillo Segoviano, A4 Holiday Homes and
Residences, and Camp Mara Tented Resort in the Philippines. He is a former
independent non-executive director (2008-2012), member of the nomination
committee (2012) and advisor to the board (2013-2021) of the Company. Mr.
Cunanan Jr. graduated from Ateneo de Manila University, Philippines in 1994
with a bachelor of arts degree in Interdisciplinary Studies major in Legal
Management. He later obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from the Ateneo Graduate School of Business, Philippines.

Mr. Roberto N. HUANG, aged 73, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on
8 November 2012. Mr. Huang is a Director and the President of San Miguel
Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.),
and a Director and the Chief Operating Officer - Beer of San Miguel Food and
Beverage, Inc. (a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange). He is
also a Director of San Miguel Brewing International Limited and San Miguel
Malaysia Pte. Ltd.; and the Chairman and President of Iconic Beverages, Inc.,
Brewery Properties Inc., and Brewery Landholdings, Inc. Mr. Huang graduated
from the Mapua Institute of Technology with a Bachelor of Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering and completed academic requirements for a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from De La Salle University. He
also attended the Nagoya International Training Center, Japan International
Cooperation Agency Grant for Metal Works Engineering and Numerical
Control Machines course.
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Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, GBV, GBS, OBE, JB MA Cantab. (Economics
& Law), Hon. LLD (Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA (Edinburgh

Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon. LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt
(Macquarie), Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITR, Officier
de I'Ordre de la Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of the Star of Italian Solidarity, The
Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de
la Légion d’Honneur, aged 82, was appointed on 22 March 1991. Sir David is an
independent non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. He is the Executive Chairman of The Bank of East Asia,
Limited (listed in Hong Kong). He is an independent non-executive Director
of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited, The Hongkong and
Shanghai Hotels, Limited and Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (all listed
in Hong Kong). He was an independent non-executive Director of Guangdong
Investment Limited (listed in Hong Kong). Sir David is a member of the Council
of the Treasury Markets Association. He is Founding Chairman of The Friends
of Cambridge University in Hong Kong Limited, Chairman of the Advisory
Board of The Salvation Army, Hong Kong and Macau Command, Chairman of
the Executive Committee of St. James’ Settlement and a Fellow of the Hong
Kong Academy of Finance. He was a member of the Executive Council of
Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008 and the Legislative Council of Hong Kong from
1985 to 2012.

Mr. Fumiaki OZAWA, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on 28 April 2017. He is also a Director and the Executive Vice
President of San Miguel Brewing International Limited. He is also a Director
of San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited
and San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Limited; and a Commissioner of PT
Delta Djakarta Tbk (@ company listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange). Mr.
Ozawa was a former Director and Executive Financial Advisor of San Miguel
Brewery Inc. (a company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.),
the Senior Manager of Corporate Strategy Department of Kirin Holdings
Company, Limited and Senior Manager of Management Planning Department,
Kirin Company, Limited. He was also the Manager of Management Planning
Department of Kirin Company, Limited, Manager of Overseas Sales Division,
Kirin Techno-System Company, Limited, and Sales Representative of Off-
premise Sales Section, Tohoku Regional Head Office, Kirin Brewery Company,
Limited. Mr. Ozawa graduated from Waseda University with a bachelor’s
degree in Economics.
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Mr. Reynato S. PUNO, aged 81, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director and Nomination Committee member of the Company
on 8 November 2012 and as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 24
February 2017. Mr. Puno is an independent Director of San Miguel Corporation
(a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange), and San Miguel Brewery
Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.) and an
Independent Commissioner of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (a company listed on
the Indonesia Stock Exchange). He is also the Chairman of the Environmental
Heroes Foundation and GenWatt Solar Energy Solutions (Philippines); Vice
Chairman of GMA Kapuso Foundation; a Member of the Board of Directors
of The New Standard newspaper and World Vision Development Foundation,
Inc., a Member of the Board of Regents of Manuel L. Quezon University,
and a Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration in Hague. He is also a
former independent director of Union Bank of the Philippines (2012-2021),
Apex Mining Company, Inc. (2012-2013) and Manila Bulletin Publishing Corp.
(2010-2011) (all companies listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange), and
Marcventure Mining and Development Corporation (2015-2017), Chairman
of the Philippine Bible Society (2012-2018), Member of the Board of Regents
of the University of the Philippines (2016-2018), and Member of the Board of
Trustees of the Gerry Roxas Foundation (2013-2017). He was also appointed
Chairman of the Constitutional Commission to revise the 1987 Philippine
Constitution (January to July 2018). Mr. Puno served as the Chief Justice of
the Philippine Supreme Court from 6 December 2006 until his retirement
on 17 May 2010. He also served previously in the Philippine judiciary as an
Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, Associate Justice of the Court of
Appeals, Appellate Justice of the Intermediate Appellate Court and Acting
City Judge of Quezon City. He also served as Assistant Solicitor General and
Deputy Minister of Justice. Mr. Puno completed his Bachelor of Science
degree in Jurisprudence and Bachelor of Laws degree at the University of
the Philippines, and has a Master of Laws degree from the University of
California in Berkeley and a Master in Comparative Laws degree from the
Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas. He also completed academic
requirements for a Doctor of Juridical Science degree from the University of
lllinois.
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Mr. Kenji UCHIYAMA, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 13 April
2018. Mr. Uchiyama is a Director and the Executive Vice President of San
Miguel Brewery Inc. (@ company listed on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange
Corp.) and a Director of San Miguel Brewing International Limited, San
Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited,
Iconic Beverages, Inc., Brewery Properties Inc. and Brewery Landholdings,
Inc. He was also the Executive Officer and General Manager of Corporate
Planning Department of Kirin Brewery Company, Limited; a Director of
Diageo Kirin Company, Limited, Heineken Kirin Company, Limited, Eishogen
Company, Limited, Kirin Distillery Company, Limited and The Brooklyn Brewery
Corporation; and the President and Chief Executive Officer of The Brooklyn
Brewery Japan Company, Limited. Mr. Uchiyama also held the following
positions in the Kirin group: Deputy General Manager of Sales Department, in
charge of Off-Premise Sales of Kirin Beer Marketing Company, Limited; and
Head of Sales Promotion Section of Sales Department of Kirin Beer Marketing
Company, Limited. Mr. Uchiyama graduated from Keio University with a
Bachelor’s degree in Social Psychology.

Mr. Tomoki YAMAUCHI, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 27 October 2017. Mr. Yamauchi is a Director and
the Executive Financial Advisor of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (a company listed
on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.). He is also a Director of San
Miguel Brewing International Limited and San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited.
He was previously the Senior Manager of Accounting Department of Kirin
Company, Limited; Senior Manager of Planning Department of Kirin Beverage
Company, Limited; Senior Manager of Management Planning Department of
Kirin Company, Limited; Senior Manager of Accounting Unit Group Finance
of Kirin Holdings Company, Limited; and Senior Manager of Finance and
Accounting Department of Kirin Group Office Company, Limited. Mr. Yamauchi
graduated from Keio University with a bachelor’s degree in Economics.
He also completed a program for Management Development in Harvard
Business School.

Ms. Sum LI, CIA, FCCA, FHKICPA, aged 50, is the Group Chief Auditor of
The Bank of East Asia, Limited. She is currently serving as President of The
Institute of Internal Auditors Hong Kong. Ms. Li is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and
a Certified Internal Auditor. She was previously a Partner at KPMG's Risk
Consulting group and is a Past President of The Asian Confederation of The
Institutes of Internal Auditors. Ms. Li holds a Master Degree of Science in
Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES

Raymundo Y. ALBANO
Managing Director

John K.L. CHEUNG
Chief Finance Officer & Company Secretary

Richard W.K. CHAN
General Sales Manager

Eric W.M. CHEUNG
Senior Manager — Information Technology

Steven CO
Senior Manager — Corporate Development

Eric PK. LAM
Marketing Director

Edith .M. NG
Senior Manager — Human Resources & Administration

Kenneth W.S. YEUNG
Senior Manager — Operations

Ric W.T. YEUNG
Senior Manager — Logistics

Vincent K.M. KWOK
General Manager of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited

Mr. Raymundo Y. ALBANO, Managing Director. Please refer to the Directors
section on page 58 for details.

Mr. John K.L. CHEUNG, MBA, BBA, aged 58, Chief Finance Officer & Company
Secretary, joined the Company in 1997. Mr. Cheung is a member of the
Institute of Management Accountants. He has over 35-year solid experience
in finance and accounting in various industries. Mr. Cheung received a
Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree, both in Business Administration,
from Georgia State University, USA.

Mr Richard W.K. CHAN, msc, aged 53, General Sales Manager, joined the
Company in 2016. Mr. Chan has over 35 years of sales experience from
various industries.

Mr. Eric W.M. CHEUNG, DBA, MBA, MSc, BSc, aged 59, Senior Manager —
Information Technology, joined the Company in 1993. Mr. Cheung has gained
35 years of solid experience in the operations and management of the
Information Technology functions.
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Mr. Steven CO, BA, aged 52, Senior Manager — Corporate Development,
joined San Miguel Brewing Group of San Miguel Corporation in 1994.
Mr. Co has more than 27 years of experience in business planning, business
research, corporate affairs and quality management in the Company.

Mr. Eric P.K. LAM, MBA, BA, aged 58, Marketing Director, joined the Company
in 2008. Mr. Lam has over 28 years of experience in marketing in various
industries.

Ms. Edith Y.M. NG, MBA, DIP, aged 59, Senior Manager — Human Resources
& Administration, joined the Company in 1989. Ms. Ng has gained 35 years of
experience in the fields of marketing, sales and human resources.

Mr. Kenneth W.S. Yeung, MBA, Bsc, aged 56, Senior Manager-Operations, first
joined the Company in 1988. Mr. Yeung has over 32 years of service with the
Company. He has extensive experience in the operations of beer production.

Mr. Ric W.T. YEUNG, BBA, aged 58, Senior Manager — Logistics, joined the
Company in 1983. Mr. Yeung has more than 38 years of extensive experience
in supply planning, procurement, physical distribution and import & export.

Mr. Vincent K.M. KWOK, MBA, BBA, aged 53, was appointed as the Managing
Director of San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited on 1 January
2021. Mr. Kwok joined the Company in 2003. He has more than 30 years of
solid experience in marketing and management in various industries.
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Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except

per share data and number of personnel

BET-A=+—HIFE KSR
Win 8iE % & T ABIMGIABEE TILat&

Ten Year Review +<E[O]
2021 2020 2019
—E-—fF —EoEE —ZE-NEF
Revenue WA 595,616 555,658 580,050
Profit/(loss) from operations (1) &f (&#E) () 23,552 14,920 7,788
Profit/(loss) for the year (1) 2F, (F58) () 22,108 13,851 8,300
Taxes paid, including beer tax FRIE BT 6,738 11,068 13,825
Cash dividends attributable to the year FEELESKRE — — —
Cash dividends per share (cents) RIS (L) — — —
Non-current tangible assets and projects FRBEFEERERFTIER
under development 458,923 465,291 474,377
Net worth FE 571,102 543,011 515,914
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMEF 121,450 121,179 122,952
Number of personnel (2) BTAH () 477 517 491
Q) Profit from operations and profit for 2012 have been restated for the change in accounting policy for employee benefits.
2 Number of personnel represents actual headcount of regular personnel as of the last working day of the year.
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
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Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except

per share data and number of personnel

BET-A=+T—HILFE  BER

Win 8iE % 8 T ABIMGARE TITat &

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—T)N\F —T—tF TEREF —T—AhF —T—mE —F—= T F
(restated)
(B &751)
584,609 565,785 541,427 569,502 728,640 687,093 686,362
(64,690) 20,692 11,505 (11,555) 41,635 28,674 243,428
(74,088) 15,219 6,705 (16,909) 36,994 25,824 226,976
17,338 13,432 10,494 15,984 20,670 19,614 26,683
_ — — — 7,472 3,736 —
_ _ — — 2 1 _
487,708 576,388 584,806 597,381 621,309 635,893 654,678
500,668 584,811 558,084 544,986 571,949 543,678 511,836
123,067 121,606 116,014 118,421 116,888 106,631 104,724
516 516 539 549 566 587 606
() EEENER-F-—ErANBHESENT SHREREES) -
@ EIA;%HEE@EE%%&%I1’EBZ;E'T&5§%H%%&§H¢% ’7;1;%519 °
[
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SR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_T-—F+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/kﬁé’ﬁk?ﬁ’ﬁ)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
BaE Fr Tt
Revenue WA 3 595,616 555,658
Cost of sales SHERAR (352,572) (312,267)
Gross profit EX 243,044 243,391
Other net income H AUz F 58 4 26,454 40,722
Selling and distribution expenses tHE R (164,694) (169,265)
Administrative expenses TS (73,675) (90,398)
Other operating expenses Hiha b (7,577) (9,530)
Profit from operations wE B 23,552 14,920
Finance costs 5 EA 5(a) (1,541) (2,373)
Profit before taxation BRELATZ R 5 22,011 12,547
Income tax credit IS RiaT A 6 97 1,304
Profit for the year FERF 22,108 13,851
Attributable to: FE{RINE :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAEIERFEB A 19,364 17,228
Non-controlling interests SRR S 2,744 (3,377)
Profit for the year FEER 22,108 13,851
Earnings per share SREF
Basic (cents) FAR ({ll) 10(a) 5 5
Diluted (cents) g () 10(b) N/A TEH N/A 71~ F
The notes on pages 74 to 133 form part of these financial statements. FIRETAE1BEZ T EWEAARMBEHREK 2 — 3D
2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 & 2 HEUNEF

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_T_—F+_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (CABHEETE)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
bz Tt T

Profit for the year FERF 22,108 13,851
Other comprehensive income FEHMB2EKE (REE)

for the year (after tax) 9
Items that may be reclassified subsequently & al e E# 5 A B H)EH

to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of financial R & EHNf B A F§ 15 Rk

statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong K [R#a & 48 5k &= B KT E A 7

and monetary items that form part of AN EEIEE fTEL

the net investment in subsidiaries outside ZIEN =58

Hong Kong 2,210 4,203
Items that will not be reclassified to profit BRTEEFIIABZLTEE

or loss
Actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit ERERARINGTE 2 RE &R

retirement plan REiE 3,773 9,043

5,983 13,246

Total comprehensive income for the year SE2HENFHRETE 28,091 27,097
Attributable to: BEfRaT :
Equity shareholders of the Company RARE=FEA 26,306 32,445
Non-controlling interests IR 1,785 (5,348)
Total comprehensive income for the year S£E2mEIKEHELE 28,091 27,097

The notes on pages 74 to 133 form part of these financial statements.

JIRBTAENBAZ ZTEME R AP ERE 2 — 6

,T/'\ °
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FFEIR AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #r&H

At 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

+=A=+—¢H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5T Ft Tt
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - IR NERE 1(a) 346,750 348,409
Investment properties LB 1(a) 112,173 116,882
458,923 465,291
Intangible assets B ARE 12 4,771 4,771
463,694 470,062
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =8 14 69,374 56,709
Trade and other receivables EUWE 5 Kk H A ARIE 15 42,250 42,775
Amounts due from holding companies and ey UNCINSAE ERS
fellow subsidiaries B A RIERIE 16 12,103 16,829
Amount due from a related company FEURRAE A FIBRIE 16 1,273 1,260
Bank deposits RITIFX 17 30,579 43,770
Cash and cash equivalents He kZERAEER 17 101,807 112,339
257,386 273,682
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables BNE S REMERTE 18 (85,144) (83,027)
Loans from related companies E AR ER 19 (42,351) (54,731)
Amounts due to holding companies and FERHERT A B K R &
fellow subsidiaries M8 mIERIE 16 (7,618) (9,418)
Amounts due to related companies FEfTERE A RIBRIE 16 (9,452) (12,975)
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 (362) (11)
(144,927) (160,162)
Net current assets REBEERE 112,459 113,520
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #r&

8 ﬁ%ﬂﬁ)ﬁ%‘%

At 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T Tt
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABARS 576,153 583,582
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loans from related companies AP ENGII & 19 — (38,158)
Retirement benefit liabilities BRRRANEE 20(a) (1,757) (2,378)
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 (3,294) (35)
(5,051) (40,571)
NET ASSETS EERE 571,102 543,011
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR #E
Share capital R 23(b) 252,524 252,524
Other reserves H{th 350,311 324,005
Total equity attributable to equity KARERIEE AEEER
shareholders of the Company 602,835 576,529
Non-controlling interests IR R (31,733) (33,518)
TOTAL EQUITY R AE 571,102 543,011

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 7 March 2022.

L

Ramon S. Ang
Director

KHREESN_T__F= A+ RILEREKETE -

N

B Raymundo Y. Albano BEM
=) Director EE

The notes on pages 74 to 133 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY & HEZ & B &R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_T - —F+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (Mr’éﬁ%uﬂ':ﬁ)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAAREREARERG
Exchange Non-
Share Capital  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests equity
A& Exfits EXRDRE W fiE it HERER ERAE
Note $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000
54 it it it it it it it
Balance at 1 January 2020 W-Z-%%
R TACRER x5 n2m L L M08 B0 stsond
Changes in equity for 2020: “ECEERREE:
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEAN/ (BR) = = = 17,228 17,228 (3,377) 13,851
Other comprehensive income Hth2ElE 9 = = 6,174 9,043 15,217 (1971) 13,246
Total comprehensive income FEEARGES
e ... S N & dal o g by -
Balance at 31 December 2020 R=B=F%
and 1 January 2021 +ZA=t-BR
. “RCE-ACR 2250 (e 0625 1040 S L L T LU
Changes in equity for 2021: “EC-FEREE:
Profit for the year FERF - - - 19,364 19,364 2,744 22,108
Other comprehensive income b 2Eka 9 - — 3,169 3773 6,942 (959) 5,983
Total comprehensive income FE2ANEEE
for the year - - 3,169 23,137 26,306 1,785 28,091
Balance at 31 December 2021 R=E=—%
+ZR=t+-B&&H 252,524 112,970 83,794 153,547 602,835 (31,733) 571,102
The notes on pages 74 to 133 form part of these financial statements. HRETAEIBE 2 S EMF AARM KK 2 —
1/'\ °
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT & RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_T-_—F+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/%%#%-)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
iz F T
Operating activities REXEK
Cash generated from operations KEZEE 7S MA 17(b) 37,031 46,081
Tax paid: BEANHIE ¢
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BRBEBNER — (874)
Net cash generated from REEBZBEERA
operating activities BEE 37,031 45,207
Investing activities REEE
Payment for the purchase of property, INEWIZE - HES RSB PTTER
plant and equipment (12,623) (13,630)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - MR R EFTSIE
plant and equipment 2,969 2,489
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits RITIEFOR D (380) 13,191 (21,109)
Interest received 2 WIS 965 1,287
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFEZEHERA (GFd)
investing activities AR 4,502 (30,963)
Financing activities R EEE
Proceeds from new loans from BN RIS ERTFA
related companies 17(c) — 3,854
Repayment of loans from related companies BRTEBEATIZER 17(c) (51,172) (12,719)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEERNE AR 17(c) (1,050) (943)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERBEENFEE G5 17(c) (61) (15)
Interest paid BRFLE 17(c) (1,377) (2,238)
Net cash used in financing activities BETEH2REREFE (53,660) (12,061)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁ%&%ﬂfiﬁlﬁ B2 F8
cash equivalents W) (12,127) 2,183
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—BZEE
at 1 January FEBHRSEEEE 17(a) 112,339 106,732
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes EZR&g>2E 1,595 3,424
Cash and cash equivalents at R+-A=t+—HZzEE
31 December RERBELERER 17(a) 101,807 112,339
The notes on pages 74 to 133 form part of these financial statements. FRE74E1BE 2 SENE ARG RE 2 —B
3} °
[
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

74

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FTESHEE

(a) Statement of compliance (@) EsrE
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all R FERE VRIS EE Y S8V ERE
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which MBI ([ FHBIERELER ) MiRE - [E5
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial BIFSEREER| | — e ER S et Ae8E
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and 2 A ERNERE ST ERE LR - F
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public EEHER| ([HEHER ) RRE - &%
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong AReHELRES (RFUERY ZBE - &%
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. ER R T ST ERMA T S ER AT
These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure s FEA) ([ L8 YiEamEEES
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock F o AEENAY TBeHNEHENT -
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.
The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first EHeAe D ERETRIEI E5E
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period B ER|  WHNAREE Y NS R E L
of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting AN AR B - BN ER N EEAR
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the NEE Y HEEAFSI R E R e
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting BRI et BESH o R AT ERER
period reflected in these financial statements. Bk - BRIEEERHEE1C)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b) REBTEHREZER
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December HEr— - —F4+-_HA=+—RHI-EEIE
2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as AR EREARNTIREMBAT (558
the “Group”). AARER]) -
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial B TR 2R T AR Sh Ak AN B A R LV o
statements is the historical cost basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires IR A B SRS EDM I ERERE R
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect SHEEteYBNERAREE  BFE -
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, U A BB S B RS SR RE Y BT - (hET R R
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are HEE - Mt REBEBRERNIEEBAKR R
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed ZEAMEEEBBR TEAENEMEER
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form B - HE Rk AUEE MBS FRERS
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and BHEAEHAEREEELANER - &
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results BR4E BATAE A BN (G -
may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing EHREEBReEERS - Weityihg
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in ITIEETR - BB R 2R - BlgsTe
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in BT R NER BB LR Y
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both B R SRR EARS » BITE(SET o o AR HARS FERR o
current and future periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that LB S B TS SR A S BI RS BT e O b
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of URELEY T —EE T M iEREEREAR
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2. R 2 AT R =AM T2 -

[



EEENEERARAT —B-—FFHR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1  EEEBER @

(c) Changes in accounting policies (c) EHBXNEH
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first BEeASEBHZEEEEITIETRE
effective for the current accounting period of the Group. LERIWEE] - WRAREBRARTNSEE

AR EIRAER -

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the FEMMZEETTRBEHAEBERA R BITH
Group's results and financial position for current or prior periods have EENRMGRABRERTEZE - KEE
been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new standard S AR ER AR ] 5 AN HR = 5 HA R 18 2R AR AU
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. KRR o

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) MHEBARIREZERER

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised profits but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but
no gain or loss is recognised.

HEARIRIERASEITFINERE - EA%
ER2EXEEMEZAXERZAIHNME
% BRAAABEEZERNEHRZEEL
CIEREVEE B - BEEH| T2 B RS o ZERTAA
SERTAAEGIEE  EERELEN
(HARENEMTIHE)

WA A B2 B d 5 A R HI R 1A 6f A SR
EUBHREN  BEEGIERIERIL - A&
BARR Mz RHRBRLRE - A
RZSMES ZEMREREHN  THRHE
A MR DRI - MERERE -
AEBARRZMZ R B MEE 2 RERE
18 TIARERAMBRZAEHE -

FEER R AEXEEN AR
MM B AR MARBEREZESRSH
FEREMAMMGZE  HLEEBE EHZ
ERSELEN AV BRARERNATRY
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AR E R B A PR EEFENMIGEL
I EER IR S

IR R AR A M SRR AR B R
SR B RE N S E R RER DR o IF
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1 significant accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEBER (@
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued) (d) MBARARFZRER (B

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a MRAEEBKREMBAB 2 =G - ZIBEX

disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or SEREEZWB AR HERCE  HE

loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former T HERIBE - TRIAEBFRE ZBIHE
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and NEFSEREER AT A ABERR
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial ZEACRMEEVRERZANLE AR

asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment G R/N B IRk = o I B = N

in an associate or joint venture. (sEmA) -

In the Company'’s statement of financial position, an investment in a EARARRZHBRREAR - BB AR

subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1())). AR EEE (RMEE10) 5IE ©

(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) W% - HeSRFXE

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost MEEIRBUKINEERBEEE (BT

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(i)), with 10) FUBRSN - AT EY W% - 128 KR BIERK

the exception of construction in progress which is stated at cost less any AR EFTITE KOREEEYIER (RKIEE13) -

impairment losses (see note 1())):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties — RSB ERR 2 FMERA
when the Group is not the registered owner of the property ZIERTELABHEEREZFEH
interest; and EE &

— items of plant and equipment including right-of-use assets arising — BIEEABEEKE L REREZ(F
from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see note 1(g)). AHEEAE #ELEEER (AN

Q)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of WEESK L EME  MEREBEER CRE

property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between THEMBSRIEFENEHEEREEY

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are ER o WHARESHE BEBEFHER -
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant PETIHEMZE - #a8 KRB AR E A 5

and equipment, less their estimated residual values, if any, using the S®EMAE (WE)  EH TG ER T

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows: FIABE AR E iy -

— Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of lease. — DERAMEBEE TR LN RERE

EEIREE -

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the - ERETH FNERKREREE
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful HMREMGEF I ERAFS CNBBART
lives, being no more than 50 years. F) MEPEEHEINE -

— Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 2 t0 50 years — LS 2% MEZERTF

EXN e

— Motor vehicles 5t0 7 years - B AFEEF

No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress until EEIRRNEETK LA RAERAITES

such time when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use. RITE -

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different BIEYE  BENEREZZBHETRY

useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis AERAEER - WIEE S D 2R AGIRE E

between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful AW - MM BIERBIITE - RNER

life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually. BERNEEZAFRAFHLERGER
(mF) -
[ ]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1. EEEBER (@

(f)  Investment properties ) REWHE
Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held EMEABRIRES WA R A RIEE
under a leasehold interest (see note 1(g)) to earn rental income and/or for miEASREEEED (RWF1Q) FE0
capital appreciation. THIREE °
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation B EIR AR 25T E KB EE RSB
and impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)). Depreciation is calculated to write (RBEFE10)0) » FTE TSR B W EK AR H
off the cost of investment properties, less their estimated residual values, FABE (WF)  EXREmHAEEREE
if any, using the straight-line method over the shorter of the unexpired AMERAFH (TRBERTF) MmE T EEHH
term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 LA AT E s -
years.
Both the useful lives of the investment properties and their residual REMENTFEAFHELEFSREE (WF)
values, if any, are reviewed annually. EIRFIER R -
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described 1% & W) E MR 2 UAAR 5 T 5F 1)) it 75
in note 1(r)(i. NEtHE -

(8) Leased assets (g) MHEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component and non-lease component,
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and
accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the
Group are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at
the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

AEBRANFARSFHANEEBRN (K
Be) 8 - MAaNABRRREMEBE—
BB IR G 2 BRI B E R 2R - Bl
BHER (Ea) HE - WEFHAEET
EHREEERNEREERCHRNEE
ESBAMORENE - ARt EEE -

HNBEHEENY MIFRERD 28K - &
SEDEZTFEERS DREE MR
SATARERS SRy MEMAE IR
EBNERE—THERND ALK -

AEBREER KA REREREEELE
g% MHEAR T @A T ZEHHE
EXEEBEEE GIAKEMEETEZRTIR
B AERM) 2HERI - EAREE
HREEEEEIVHEER  AREeREE
ZERERREREHEEEAR - BZFE
YARENMEZEERBZEENFNERA
B RGUHER R -

EHEEEAMEZ2BERT HERBVINE
HNREMEEN R RERER  WEHRE
EREZMEY (HARMKHIAEE) 185
BEBFER - RUITHERIR - HER
BRI AET B - A B R ERA
KEFE - T EHERBER TG AL IR
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77



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEREE @

(8) Leased assets (Continued) (g) MHEEE®
The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially REEERCEER 2 (FERAEEEVZFIRK
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability RetsE EheiEHEREZYHREEMNE
plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, e B Bk 2 AIfE L 2 (I E R FUA K&
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the FREEEZVBREZENR - EEAER
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and T - REEE KA TEER R AR
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site B ESEEMRBEENEHMAES 2 (45T
on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease KA (JrIR=EBE) MR ERe Bz g
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost BE - FREEEERERAMNGZINE
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(e) and MoREEE (R 1e) & 10)i0) 58 °
1))
The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future IS F R B BBRREENREE
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a SAEEHBEHBERGEERRZEMNS
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable BAEZ st B E  KAAEEEFTER
under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the AEBHEKITEREE  ERIKIEERE
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise mMENES) - EHTE=HEAE - HHE
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability BETHEBRTENE Y ERREE
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the EZEAEFEMERAE 5 (HEREESE
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if ZEHEDRES) BEEREIAER -
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope EHEHESRELNBEASERMAESNF
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for FIAzEEHIHEETNETEREREK
in the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a HEEOAR  MEASHI2HEAE - &
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the HIER T @ IBE&ETRE R REE M EH
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at R PMERT AR H HAE BB TR R YR
the effective date of the modification. BAEETENE -
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition REBBTHAREYETEZFRESE
of investment property in “property, plant and equipment” and presents 25 [ « WERNEE ] - WGSBS
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial RRERBI2HHEEE -
position.
In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion RERE+—@AARNIBEEE 280
of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the principal portion of KA EDNEEMIERRENIETE BE
contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months HMEaE 2 mEEH -
after the reporting period.

(h) Intangible assets (hy #B|EEE
Intangible assets represent acquired trademarks and club debentures and EILEAERBEANENR ST EREEI AR A
are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)). SEEBEEEYIEE (R MIEE 16)a0) -
These intangible assets are not amortised as their useful lives are ZEBEEWESRY BRAEAFEAFH
assessed to be indefinite and are tested annually for impairment (see note WL AT L EFEAERE RS (R
)i FE10)) e
The conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite BIEEAEZEAFHIRENERETT
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances B AREIBAER BB TR EE 2T E
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. TEEAFE 7 S b4

[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1  significant accounting policies (continued) 1. EEEEE®

(i)  cCredit losses and impairment of assets () FEBBEREERE

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) T EfTE 2 EERE
The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected BEEENTESESENREEHREER
credit losses (ECLs), which are those losses that are expected to occur B AERESREETGFHRNZETE
over the expected life of the trade receivables and amounts due from B BEEEZHERERN —EUAERD
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related companies (trade- B EEEBEREHNEBEER - WIRE
related). The loss allowance is estimated based on the Group’s historical ERAREREZELARE - MRFHE BT
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors & A N TR B — AR AR, ©
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised EHEEEEESEREABENTE &
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an RS EEIB IR ED - REBFTERHH
impairment gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying BED  RAEERERYEKES NE
amount of trade receivables and amounts due from holding companies, M E R IB R BRI E/E D FEETEE -
fellow subsidiaries and related companies (trade-related) through a loss
allowance account.
The gross carrying amount of a trade debtor or other receivable is written EWE ZESEMERENREREELE
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect U AT BE R IE S T T LARESE (Bfn & 5h) ©
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the EER—RBIEEER AL E I EL M
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate ERNEEFHESENEEIRARR -
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

(i)  Impairment of other assets (i) H#EERE

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

— Property, plant and equipment;

— Investment properties;

— Intangible assets; and

— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

REEGEE B SR RE RINEER - A
AITHEERTDE HRBES ZAIEER L
BERGE MRS

- WE - Wes LR
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M
(i)

80

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units if otherwise.

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use.

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1. EEEBER (@

(i) Inventories h ==
Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of FERKEBEEBBREPEAEFENE
business, in the process of production for such sale or in the form of B EZGFESEBETFEKMS - A
materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the RS E BRI IR RIS B e E
rendering of services. SHFEMR ©
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. FETRA AN A B IEERE 2 K&

(ERC

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises RARLANNBE G A At E - WBRIEER
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in BN AN TAAS 2 817 5 BOR A i B B
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. MO EE A 2 EABAK AN ©
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of AR EABEEB 2B EERET T
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs AR A M AR ETHEHE R o
necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is RHEFEE  ZEEFE2EERESHER
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is P BRI SIER Y -
recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and GEMRZENEBR FEZ BB LMERTEE
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the BB E B IR S ER X - AR #IR
write-down or 10ss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down SREE MM B E RN EMFERESHHNE
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories [B1%% 4 AR ATRERR A S 1 o
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(k) Trade and other receivables (k) FEWESRIELAERE
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to FEUT BRI AT AN 52 B A S (S R N R B 2 #E T
receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if FRfERR - INRAESMNZEEBRPZAREE
only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration R —ERIERY 0 BIJEEAE AR 2 & S
is due. Y o
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component TRESEEMERSNEWRESYIAER
are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade receivables that SEREDR - EWERBERSEENREK
contain a significant financing component and other receivables are SMEA EWKIBBRIIZ A BENZSE
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are FAHERR o P FEMAR SRR FA I SH Ak A%
subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method AR BIEEEEEEE (RME100) -
and including allowance for credit losses (see note 1()(i)).

(I)  Interest-bearing borrowings (I MEMER

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group's
accountings policy for borrowing costs (see note 1(t)).

M EEREIEAARBERR S ERAER -
KRR - M BERBRABERN R Rz S
HATIE - MEFRX DREBEAEENEE
A SR BEREER (RHEEM) »
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1 significant accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEBER (@

(m) Trade and other payables (m) BEBNESRHEMNRE
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent BB S REMBRIBEVIZALBEERER
to initial recognition, trade and other payables are stated at amortised H12 B IR E A ANTIE - EiHBEIR S E R
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case K+ BIIRAKANTIE o
they are stated at invoice amount.

(n) cash and cash equivalents (n) HERZERBRLHEH
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand e LERRSERIERTEF BE 8
deposits with banks and other financial institutions and short-term, highly 1T R E M s 2 R B TE R M R B E
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of mZWE - MZFRERER A B E A8
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, RecHARSEREERR  WARBAR=S
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash ARSI ZREIEBR - RELERBF LA
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL") in accordance B ZMIEE 10)0) s A TERHE B S8 -
with the policy set out in note 1()().

(0) Employee benefits (o) EEEF

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined (i) EHEEEAN R EEETCRIK B 2 ER
contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined BRARFEZHEFT € FRIEL BFF
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are R« TREEIGRKRTE ZHARAKEB TR
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by 7 IFEERAE N A EB R SIREA R
employees. B2 FERE °

(i)  Defined benefit retirement plan obligations (i) TEEEAERAKTEZERE
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement AEBAEBTEHEGENRATINFEABRIZ
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount B TR B B TR M R A st &
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service AV R RN SETE  ZEF AR EH
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine BETHRTAAEEENAFEE - B
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The FTERAEERNBERMNUTET BN ERAE
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 1To BB EBUAREFLERFZ DR
credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, BERNIMEAIATES B AR FIGR TR
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits MR IE A R EERZEIRE o
available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.
Service cost and net interest expense or income on the net defined FRET B EREEFENRERAMF S
benefit liability or asset are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by T HEWAFEAEESRPER > WIREER
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” A THEKRA] THERDHEAX] 3
or "administrative expenses”. Current service cost is measured as the [1TERI Y ] B9—3FD o T RS ARG AK AN 2 IR AR
increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting A EEMREIEANTERBMNEERNIR
from employee service in the current period. When the benefits of a plan FILhNEEsT 2 - BEF2IM N H RS F T
are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed EEFERE - BESBEREREERAN
benefit related to past service by employees, or the gain or 10ss on SR I K ARRSREIEE - €&t
curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier B2 B ok MR R B A B SRR AR I R 4R A AN 3.
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and when related BHREFIEN (UREERE)  NIBRAER
restructuring costs or termination benefits are recognised. Net interest R o BINALE ST H s A R R AT R
expense or income for the period is determined by applying the discount EHYE S EREEN A EMEANITE R E
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning ARTFHENAGNEEFEMEE - FTH
of the reporting period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The WITIRER 2R AE HEAEFMAEZEARE
discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high quality HREENEE N EEFNRER RO
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the RETF
Group’s obligations.

[
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1  significant accounting policies (continued) 1. EEEEE®

(0) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EEEF B

(ili)  Termination benefits (i) #ALEEEF
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can L IHRIBEMNAS ANEBEHEE LEAAR
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it recognises HNECHERAEAMARIELH KR IEHE
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits. R (AR E RYE) o

(p) Income tax (p) FREH

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities and all
deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination) and temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future or, in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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G A TR RABETE 2B R 2 T
BEIBE - 3B 2 B BRI
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1  significant accounting policies (continued) 1. EEEREE @
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) FREW (&)
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the BEMIBE RSB VIREENBEZER
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of BE2BEEERNIAER  RARGEE B
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted FESRAM LA E 2R E o« BEIEHIBE
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ENEEW TR -
not discounted.
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of BRERIREE 2 RE(EDN S EE BETE
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer B MimE TEAIEEE B2 R R T A
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related HIFEBEHRIESZ A EERBEEES T
tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that LA A o SZ BB & 58 A 18 2 S R B s 7
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available. B e IR o
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, R RBEEMGHARMEZEHERHHT
are presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax T~ WEAATEE o REFRLEMEHEE
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets REUEARRAIANEEEETITERURE
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally S EEREAMMEHaE  YAKS
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities AT 6 R1E R T - A AT A9 B S AR
and the following additional conditions are met: RS AR -
— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the - AEFTERMEEMAE « AT A
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset SEEERFREELELYE - RARSE
and settle the liability simultaneously; or RZEBEMSEZERE &
— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to — FEEFTEREEMBE  ELEEM
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either: BENEER—HSHEEZA T Ed
—IERUEFTISTR A -
— the same taxable entity; or - B —FESRTAALIE - ok
— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in — TRMERTAEE - SLE
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or BEETE| L TR ER A REBIREFT
assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to BHREBEEBEBEIELFR
realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax 1S & B T LA B 9 & 3 R
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously. REAR - IRFREELEFTIRA
HFS T EEMBEARNIFT
SWaE  KRFFEHRZE
EMBEZBE -
(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities (q BERIAREE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive MRA DTN AEB B B LS E
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow EESETEY  AMEHeEREELE
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a MR ERING - EA AEH AT S/ fE 5T
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, B AR AERFem LB EERN
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to T BEFHEER WREEERESA
settle the obligation. ARIBRT TR L A0 ER EaT DR -
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be RSB EE R ERING K AT GE M B
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is K - s E AN B EEEEL T M-
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of FERZEBHRERIABE  BERING
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence B AT B AR AIBRHD o IMRAE BRI ERIEA
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or RIEEREZRAREHREELES LT
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the BEGFME TEREEANBEE  BERI
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. B AT RE AR AR R BR AN
[
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1. EEEBER (@

(@) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued) (q) BERIAEE @
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision MR BETIREFENIT D2 X HTET#E
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is mE—HEE  ASTHATHENTERES
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually R—IEBENEE - HRANMIRSEEER
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the REBHEEFNIRMSEE -
carrying amount of the provision.

() Revenue and other income (n WARHEMYE
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale RAEBNHEEBBRES  KEBKESD
of goods or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the EERSEMANEEFRERARERNE
ordinary course of the Group'’s business. EMEERNKE  AFEAKA -
Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to the EEMOIESEERTRE A AR
customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of FRZEER  KRBRAEEBRFEESH
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, AGEHELBEEIARA  TEERRE=F
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue WERH & 58 « WATBIEIEERIEER -
excludes value added tax and consumption tax and is after deduction of WHBREAE S -
any trade discounts.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 AEBREB THE BTG RELERE 1557
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a GIEFERTE - RMEHRA12EAKE
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or B AEETeREEERERK D MR
less. BEoH -
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition BEAERBWRANEMKSERBRRE—F
policies are as follows: EESus

(i) Sale of goods (i) HEWA
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ WAEEYFRERFPRATSHAZPIEEE
premises or picked up by customers or when goods are shipped on board, PEMRER  SEBPATRNIKRMmME
depending on the terms agreed with customers, which is taken to be the R ABEFPEXBEYNEEEMNNG TEY
point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and obtained 2R Sl 4 o
the control of the goods.

(ii)  Interest income (i)  FE®A
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest F B A TIE BB SEETE o
method.

(ili)  Rental income from operating leases (i) HEHEMEKRZESKA

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.

RIBEEHEEMEK 2 HEUWA - TILASHE
RIBHOFMRE 2 ST MR - REEEH
B A B TO(E R PTUR B B R B SR AR R — &P
NIRRT HER ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEEBER (@

() Revenue and other income (Continued) (n WARHfMKE (&)

(ivy Governments grants (iv) BUSw8
Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position A& R RE AN E B AT W EGZ U B
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and LA R 7% 38 <7 WR B 3% 7 B 2 BIS A A48 - BRI A
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants DEVSENBHRAKXFER - HELEER
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as BB FEE  BIER AR A R
income in profit or 10ss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which B R ek -
the expenses are incurred.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies (s) sMEHB]

(i) Functional and presentation currency (i) MEEERRERE
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s REFBLWBAR ZHBREMBIEZIA
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic B iR BE A ?&iﬁﬁﬁﬁ:ZI%i&%@ﬁi&
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The B B ((Ijjﬁﬁ%-imgj) STE o SrA B HRE
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, LUBTTES - ﬂﬁ/’ém%ﬂi/&ﬁzlﬂﬁéﬁiiﬁ
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. B .

(ii) Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign (i)  ERINERITZ X5 - AR 5 B Z HMNE
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and ERHE - INEEE BB EERAE
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign AIAEE B ZMNEERIRE o [E H 185 05T
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains AdBzA o
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of NINEIRE R A EHERIEE B EER AR
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign 32 5 BN IE 3 REITINE o

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into Hong BB LM\\%%%E’]%ZiTJHzEﬁi X 5 B HYE R #F
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates approximating the foreign EHERBE A - SR KRNIBERIZ
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of #wHEA B‘]ET?@ RN - TEARER =
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing REE R AR D NRER o

foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting

exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the cumulative amount *“Hj%%‘ AONEERE RS - BARZ 75 A B M iE
of the exchange differences relating to that operation is reclassified from RNBN K EEE RTEY e iR
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised. E&E\Jﬁ&ﬁ%‘ﬁ!@ﬁsﬁ\ °

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that EMIBEEEANIINEIE L BR (BABRE
in substance form part of the net investment in an operation outside AN E B — 20 n) ERRE 2 TRIEER A
Hong Kong, together with any related tax, are reclassified to equity on R E I DM RIBE B AR R g -
consolidation.

I
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1. EEEBER (@

(t) Borrowing costs (t) BERK
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, AUEE e EEREREE (AN ERE
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a B—EBEREESAERTRENEEZE
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are E) MEEELZEER AN BIEZEEE
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are ZEBR AN o Eo b 18 B A AN TE EE A ) HAR
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. FIIERS ©

(u) Related parties (u) BEAL

0]

(ii)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the
Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or
the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related
to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in ().

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part provides
key management personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.

@M

(i)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1  significant accounting policies (continued) 1. EEEEE®

(v) Segment reporting (v) S2BERERH
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported WEDSERAVFRERANEHRN S HEEE
in the financial statements, are identified from the financial information SHETFTHREETFAEESZESITHERASR
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for RERDIE MR EENES RIZEERT
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, T8 2 IR B MR IDM B 75 & R 3
the Group's various geographical locations. Bl H 2R o
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial MU BE|RME  BRIEDIFEEHRUNLE
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic BRI EERERGSHEE EETFHE -
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products ZEHEAISIER] - BIESIRE RoIBHRG
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of M EREBRENEE FEAL - TRIF
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide FEAKED IS ETEE - [HBIFEEX
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating ARSI tNRES it KEFHIEXE - 8
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they AEITEE °
share a majority of these criteria.

2 Key accounting judgements and estimates 2 EEEHERAIER
Impairment of non-current assets ERBEE ZRE
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of non-current assets at each AEERESRE BB IERDEENKRT
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of B UBEEREFLRENTEER - EW
impairment. When indicators of impairment is identified, management BEZEHRTE BEERTSAEENTK
determine the recoverable amounts of respective assets or cash El€%E - JRESEAFHEELEFEHEER
generating units. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value MENRSE  RETIFHEER  BEE
less costs of disposal and value in use. In determining the fair value less FLERREENTBRMSER - RET
costs of disposal, management refer to the observable market prices FREENE  RERAEEESANTEHRELS N
for similar assets. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows TR EIRE - BREHD T REWATER K
generated by the assets or cash generating units are discounted to RITI ~ BB B E KA N A5 2R R £
their present value, which requires significant judgement relating to the REPERMNERNGEE - AEBERAMBE A
revenue forecasts and estimations of future discounts, future variable ERUEENRESENSEMRE - 271K
costs and fixed costs as well as future inflation and long-term growth BB EANREER  REBERERE
rates. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an oo AT FEB S REMETP T ARSY
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount. B B e A R EEE S - W
When the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, an EREBMOPBAAR - IERBEEMEEM
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. However, any change in EREEFE D RIRMEE1 K12 -
the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts would increase or
decrease the provision for impairment loss and affect the Group’s financial
position. Details of the nature and carrying amounts of non-current assets
are disclosed in notes 11 and 12.

3  Revenue and segment reporting 3 KARSHBEHZH

(@) Revenue (@ WA
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and distribution AREBZTBEBARE R D IHEE «
of bottled, canned and draught beers. MBI o
Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net of discounts, WAEFTEEERCEZLEMBRTTN - R
returns, value added tax and consumption tax. B - EERRKEm
The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS REBREB THE BT ERELERNE155%E
15 to revenue such that the information does not include information 1BHRBRTE  AEBTAEERVER
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the MEENREA  FFRENBYEBSHER
remaining performance obligations under the contracts that had an A o
original expected duration of one year or less.

[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued
. 3 WBARSEBEHER (0
(b) Segment reporting N
The Group manages its businesses by geography. In a manner consistent (b) R EERZ2H
with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s AEBRWREEEER - GERNITE2HE
most senior executive management for the purposes of resource REAEEREETREEABUESEE
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the BRFERBEER % NEBCZ2FH N5
following two reportable segments: M1EE T 2R 26 -
— The Hong Kong operations mainly comprise the manufacture
and distribution of own brewed beer products and distribution of — EREBRETERRETENEINYH
imported beer products in Hong Kong and overseas. B eEsl s BiEE Ry EED 8
BER o
— The Mainland China operations mainly comprise the manufacture
and distribution of own brewed beer products in the southern part - FEAMERIFERFEATEARSL
of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and overseas. ME (THE]) mBREIDHEE T
Bl 2 IR E A o
All of the Group's revenue is generated from the manufacture and
distribution of bottled, canned and draught beers. REEBZIWAZERERE R D HER - &
2 ARSI -
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group's senior executive management
monitor the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and current
assets. Segment liabilities include trade creditors and accruals attributable
to the manufacture and distribution activities of the individual segments
and retirement benefit liabilities managed directly by the segment and
other current liabilities with the exception of deferred tax liabilities.

The measure used for reportable segment profit or loss is “adjusted
EBIT” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest and taxes”, where “interest”
is regarded as including interest income from bank deposits and interest
expense on loans from related companies and lease liabilities. To arrive
at adjusted EBIT the Group's earnings are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as net foreign
exchange losses. Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a profit
margin.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies described in note 1.

(i)

DEEE  BEREE

FEDHRRRDEEDFER » AEE 2
SETREEASTRATEAREREAT
EROBIEL2EE  BENAE

DHEEBREMBENEE  BEERR
HEE - DHABERREE D BEERDHE
PRIENENESRBENIRER  HHE
EREEMRAENAEINLEMRBEE
HERAER IR B ERRSD o

AHEATERBANKEEMRAZIER
[HEESHATAIE] B [HBENE MHE
RIZ A o RS BERITERMEBMA - &
BRAREFMEHRHERE - JFAFER
PME RIS BEHIE B A0 X R B g R
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AT 2Wmo Az &t BEREWME At 2 &
SEEHHEMER -
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3  Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)
3 KARSBEHER @

(b) DEEREI;R (B
(i) DEEE - BEREE (B)
BE_Z-_—FN_ZE-_FTF+_HA=+—

Bl FERHTARBESRSETRERA
BUNEERRHED BRI 2 ERF 0

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below:
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T
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
BB PERt By
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—5-- S 3 b b I 2 —BZ-F S 2
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
T i i i i i
Revenue from external HREPIA
customers 369,584 365,924 226,032 189,734 595,616 555,658
Inter-segment revenue AEBEBA 210 179 - — 270 179
Reportable ATEHRABUA
segment revenue 369,854 366,103 226,032 189,734 595,886 555,837
Reportable segment BAFERIBEEEA
profit from operations (EREHASART)
(adjusted EBIT) 2,630 14,176 20,811 797 23,441 14,973
Interest income from BATFEARMBHA
bank deposits 189 621 748 566 937 1,187
Interest expense on loans BRFIEHR (1,222) (2.239) (155) — (1,377) (2239)
Depreciation and FRREREH
amortisation for the year (21,161) (20,733) (1,931) (2423 (23,092) (23,156)
Net reversal of/(provision B 5 REAMEKERF
for) impairment of trade and HE (BE) /i
other receivables 34 (1,085) 12 () 46 (1,000
Reportable BFEHIDEE
segment assets 958,307 995,898 137,776 129,577 1,096,083 1,125,475
Additions to non-current ERFERBATEELM
Segment assets during
the year 14,105 7,195 3,178 6,492 17,283 13,687
Reportable segment BFEHAHEE
liabilities 105,547 145,931 419,434 436,533 524,981 582,464
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued -
. , 3 WARZSHBEHE®R @
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) ﬁ
ya b2V IN %;E:i
(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, (b) DEERZ R (F)
(ii) BAFR2HFIIMBA - B - BEEREEZ

assets and liabilities

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue BT 2R IRUTA 595,886 555,837
Elimination of inter-segment revenue "*BZF'EJH&MESI% (270) (179)
Consolidated revenue REWA 595,616 555,658
Profit 23
Reportable segment profit from operations AT E2WyEpaEE BF| 23,441 14,973
Interest income from bank deposits IRITERZFBUA 937 1,187
Net foreign exchange losses bE i s 18 (929) (1,360)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENEZH (61) (15)
Interest expense on loans from related companies  Ea:E A 7] B2 F 82 H (1,377) (2,238)
Consolidated profit before taxation ZEABIBIAT 22,011 12,547
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets BATERDEBEE 1,096,083 1,125,475
Elimination of inter-segment receivables S E8 7 B FE U BR TE Y (375,003) (381,731)
Consolidated total assets e BERE 721,080 743,744
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities BYERDIBERE 524,981 582,464
Elimination of inter-segment payables D802 EAT BRIE S (375,003) (381,731)
Consolidated total liabilities RN = 149,978 200,733
——
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3  Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 WBWARZSHBEHE®H (@
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) AHBERZEK &
(ili)  Geographic information (i) HEER
The following table sets out information about the geographic location of TEEHEB () AEEINERP KA (i) 45
(i) the Group's revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s non- EEIERBEE ([EBETIERBEE]) 2itt
current assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographic location BUBER BEZWEBEUBERRESELE
of customers is based on the country of establishment of each customer. PR MEFTERRME - tEEIERDEE
The geographic location of the specified non-current assets is based JHIBUBEERBEEECERMLE (WEBY
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of property, plant and ¥ OBMENRENREE) NEEIBE
equipment and investment properties and the location of the operation to BEZEELE (HEEFLEE) ME
which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
HREFKA BEFRBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF —E-—fF —ECEEF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Ft Ft +7
Hong Kong
__{place of domicile) _____________ BERDOA) 259743 _..251223 . 427562 .. 434,622
Mainland China R B A 71,91 83,602 36,132 35,440
Philippines JEEE 258,832 212,511 — =
Others poETER 5,130 8,322 — —
e 335873 _.....304435 .. 36132 __..35440 .
595,616 555,658 463,694 470,062
(c)  Major customers (c) FEEF
The Group's customer base is diversified and includes one customer AEEBRBLZ b2 BERPER  Epii—
(2020: one customer), with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of (ZE-ZF : 1) BPOXRZHEBRRKRA
the Group's revenue. Revenue from sales to this customer during the HBiA10% - LT AZERFRAFEHEALE
reporting period is set out as below, BN 5256 -
2021 2020
—E-—fF e St S22
$'000 $'000
T T
Largest customer (arose from both Hong Kong (LR ARRE ORRESE &
and the Mainland China segments) R A2 =6 ) 258,832 212,732
— Percentage of total revenue — EEEWA BN 43% 38%
Details of concentration of credit risk arising from these customers are set KEZERPLZHEMEERBRENH T
out in note 24(a). 24(a) °
[
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4  Other netincome 4 HttlRBRHR
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECTEF
$'000 $'000
Ft Tt
Rental income from investment properties FEYMEHHES WA 24,875 24,517
Interest income from bank deposits RITIFRCZ I B 937 1,187
Net gain on disposal of property, plant HEWIZ MR REBEFET
and equipment 1,345 899
Net foreign exchange losses bE R B 1R (929) (1,360)
Government subsidies (note) Eraes (FisE) — 15,109
Others Hih 226 370
26,454 40,722
Note:  In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support from the et RZTZZTF  AEBEWEBEAER LA
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by EEEem [RE] sHEIPKII A
the Hong Kong Government. The purpose of the funding was to provide EAR - ZEPH BN AR ERHME
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would SR URBAIREEWERNES - BRI
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group W BhE KR - AN B 4 sk 7E i b AR
was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to TMEHE WiEMEEPRANREINETIT
spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. & o
5  Profit before taxation 5 RREERN
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREAZANE MR (FTA) THIE
(crediting): B:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EITHF
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
(a) Finance costs (a) Bi%E M
Interest expense on loans from related FERREHF BT H
companies (note 17(c)) (B3 17(c)) 1,377 2,238
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) HEaEBENEXE
(MtxE17(c)) 61 15
Bank charges RITEA 103 120
1,541 2,373
(b)  Staff costs (b) BT
Retirement costs RIS A
— Defined contribution retirement plans — ERHFR KRGS 7,047 4,130
— Defined benefit retirement plan — ERER AR IRET S
(note 20(a)(v)) (P& 20(a)(v)) 4,648 4,631
11,695 8,811
Severance payment (note 13(ii)) EBRE (PEE1300) — 10,894
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERAEMER 121,450 121,179
133,145 140,884
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5 Profit before taxation (Continued) 5 FRREIEF (&
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREIBTBAC R (5T A) T5E
(crediting): (Continued) B : (&)
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
(c) Other items Hihm g
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - HESRERE
(note 11(a)) (FrzE11(0)) 18,383 18,425
— Investment properties (note 11(a)) — &EME (MEE11@) 4,709 4,731
Cost of inventories (note 14) FERA (FiE14) 350,894 309,672
Expense relating to short-term leases AR SRR N 1,254 801
Rental receivable from investment E Wz B AR
properties less direct outgoings HEEMH7,896,0007T
of $7,896,000 (2020: $7,922,000) (ZZE=F4F : 7,922,0007T) (16,979) (16,595)
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN N & 3,203 3,301
Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment EWE S R EMERRZRE
of trade and other receivables (note 24(a)) (#[E) B8 (I3 24(a) (46) 1,090
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6 Income tax in the consolidated income 6 HFEKBRRZFAETR
statement
(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement (@) HAWERZFAEHIE:
represents:
2021 2020
—E- & —E-TF
$'000 $'000
FT T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax REABE — FRFEH
Over-provisioninprioryear Lif‘iﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ—m)
Deferred tax (note 21(a)) EEBE (i 21(a))
Origination and reversal of temporary differences TR ERE 2 IR R (O (97) (1,284)
Income tax credit R Biat A (97) (1,304)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax in 2021 and 2020 has been made AR EER RETRIEEERAMEFENN
for the Group because the accumulated tax losses brought forward FTERBRT  HAEETEFIR T =—
exceed the estimated assessable profits for both years. FRZZZZFIENBEENERERE
No provision for current taxation has been made for the subsidiaries R AR R IB R R B SR R
established in the PRC because the accumulated tax losses brought AN EERMEFERREANMRZE
forward exceed the estimated assessable profits or the entities sustained B T ERERBEA AN B RARENE
losses for taxation purposes for both years. AT IE RS o
(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and (b) EEABERFHENMEHTAESE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: B ZHER
2021 2020
B kSl 5 5
$'000 $'000
T T
Profit before taxation MR E I 2 A 22,011 12,547
Notional tax on profit before taxation BMAAENZEFIRERL
calculated at the rates applicable BRGE (MsE)
to the tax jurisdictions concerned (note) 5,196 1,984
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DAHBRFAS 2 B E 2,415 1,576
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue IERRMAZ FHIETZE (1,710) (2,616)
Tax effect of contributions to retirement benefit plans R /K& FI|ET 2 3k 2~ 1 18 o7 2 541 420
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised for AERIRIETIE 2 Fi I8 &8
deferred tax purposes 1,072 7,150
Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses AREEE R ARG ER
utilised this year ZHERE (5,902) (4,692)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised  RIERIELEFIBRN L E=E
for deferred tax purposes ZBiER (1,709) (5,106)
Over-provision in prior year FFERRRERME —_ (20)
Actual tax credit BEERMIBRTA (97) (1,304)
Note:  For the year ended 31 December 2021, the notional tax is calculated [t BEZZ-_—F+A=-+—HLEFE"

in accordance with the statutory tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong and established in the People’s Republic of
China ("PRC") of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) and 25% (2020: 25%) respectively.

TERERREERR TRARINEER
RIEBBEMAL WA 2= AR LML
SHE((HRE]) 2R1A165%(ZE=F
& 1 16.5%) F125% (=T =F4F : 25%) °
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7 Directors’ emoluments 7 EFie

IREEA R REBIZE 383(1) R (A F) (HFE
EENMIER) RO F28 2 REMBEZ

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: FEMeT -
2021
—E--F
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
D 41913
ESHe BYRE; MERL  BRGTEIHEK k]
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr Tr Tr I
Executive directors HTES
Raymundo Y. Albano Bk
(appointed effective (R=F=—F
16 January 2022) — A+ AREZRE) - - - -
Ramon G. Torralba Mg
(resigned effective (R=ZB—=F
16 January 2022) — A+ BEEHE) 2,479 — — 2,479
Non-executive directors EHTES
Ramon S. Ang E235°¢ - - - -
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SUER — — — —
May (Michelle) W. M, Chan BREX - - - -
Roberto N. Huang =2BE - - - -
Fumiaki Ozawa INELR - - - -
Kenji Uchiyama AlE= - - - -
Tomoki Yamauchi kS - - - -
Independent BUEHTES
non-executive directors
Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta — — — —
David K.P Li TEE - - - -
Sum Li TR - - - —
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — - - —
Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr. Thelmo Luis O. Cunanan Jr.
(appointed on 25 October 2021) (R=Z=——F
+TAZ+RBZMA) - - - -
Carmelo L. Santiago ikiids
(passed away on 6 August 2021) (R=Z=—F
NARBi) - - - -
2,479 — — 2,479
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7 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 7 EFEMe®
2020
ZZTF
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary scheme
fees inkind bonuses contributions Total
e 2k
EEvikn )33 BETEA  RIRGTEIET k)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T Tr Tt
Executive director HITER
Ramon G. Torralba HERE = 2,745 = - 2,745
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ramon S. Ang 24258 — — — _ _
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SR = = = — —
May (Michelle) W. M, Chan BREX - - - - -
Roberto N. Huang BRR — — — _ _
Fumiaki Ozawa INER R _ _ _ - .
Kenji Uchiyama ALE= — — — — _
Tomoki Yamauchi k=) = = = = =
Independent BYFHTES
non-executive directors
Alonzo Q. Ancheta Alonzo Q. Ancheta — — — — -
David K.P. Li FEE - — — — -
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — — - - -
Carmelo L. Santiago i = — — — —
Sum Li R
(appointed on 1 September 2020)  (RZZE-Z4F
NA—REZ{T) — — — — —
William C. M. Cheng HAIR
(resigned on 1 September 2020) (R=B-ZF
NA—REHE) — — — — —
— 2,745 — — 2,745
The executive director waived his entitlement to his director’s fees. All WITESCOWEERS - FIBIHFAITES
of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors DB IENTESCHEEMAME -
waived their entitlements to all their emoluments.
I
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8 Individuals with highest emoluments 8 HMeEmsEZAR
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2020: one) is a BB hBABR  —F (Z22FF: —

director whose emoluments are included in note 7. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals are as

) REE (KR RHE7HE) - E&
e (2 -FF U8 MEskRABZ

98

follows: B @EEnT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECITHF
$'000 $'000
Tt T
Salaries and other emoluments e MoE8L 7,485 7,699
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R 269 459
7,754 8,158
The emoluments of the four (2020: four) individuals with the highest g (ZZE2ZF 0% lesgszAEZ
emoluments are within the following bands: AT
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
Number of Number of
individuals Individuals
AEHE AEHE
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 7T 2 2
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000 7T 1 2
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001 7t 2 3,000,000 7T 1 —
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9

10
(a)

(b)

Other comprehensive income 9 Hti2Emka
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income EmemliaSdomiimge
2021 2020
“E--f —Z-TF
Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax  Before-tax Tax  Net-of-tax
amount effect amount amount effect amount
BEASE BEVE RUASE RUNSE WEYE BUKSE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr T T Fr Fr
(note 21(a)) (note 21(a))
(KisE21(a)) (F5E21(3)
Exchange differences on RAEBINTBEA
translation of financial ﬁﬁn%iﬁ?%&lﬁﬁ ZHﬁX*I
statements of subsidiaries KB AR ZREREKIEE
outside Hong Kong and monetary ~ FIEAZER =8
items that form part of the
net investment in subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong 2,210 - 2,210 4,203 — 4,203
Actuarial gains and losses of EREFIRKGE
defined benefit retirement plan ZIFERFREE
(note 20(a)(v)) (Pi=E 20(@)(v)) 3,870 (97) 3,773 10,327 (1,284) 9,043
Other comprehensive income Hib2E N 6,080 97) 5,983 14,530 (1,284) 13,246
Earnings per share 10 HSEERA
Basic earnings per share (@ BREXER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit EXBRNDIBEBEAQRAERFE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $19,364,000 (2020: }\ F’§ 1;5 2 F $£19,364,000c ( —Z & = &
$17,228,000) and on 373,570,560 (2020: 373,570,560) ordinary shares, & :17,2280007T) RAFE AN B 17
being the number of ordinary shares in issue throughout the year. 2 373,570,560 B E A Hx ( T T F:
373,570,560 i & Hx)
Diluted earnings per share (b)y BEBECEBREF

Diluted earnings per share is not presented as the Company did not have
dilutive potential ordinary shares for both years presented.

BESRANILRTIH - BARBLR
BRAEEUENEE T BRFHE -
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11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 PE BRREHE KREIVERA
properties and leasehold land g1t
(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@) REEHK
Property, plant and equipment
0E BBREE
Ownership
interests in
land and

buildings ~ Machinery,
held for  equipment,

own use furniture Motor Construction Investment
carried at cost  and fixtures vehicles inprogress  Sub-total  properties Total
BRAMEE BE RE ) o
WiBREE SHRER 5§  HERIE At RENE ag
$7000 $7000 $°000 $000 $000 $°000 $7000
T T I i i i i
Cost: R
At 1 January 2020 WZE=T5-F—H 1,009,757 1,635,107 4261 1419 2,650,544 213,569 2,864,113
Exchange adjustments B 5 29,049 42425 167 2 71,643 = 71,643
Additions RE 975 4373 163 8,176 13,687 = 13,687
Transfer from construction in progress BREAGETRE M 4,755 1,291 (6,157) — — —
Disposals e 75) (12119) (3 - (12229 - (12229)
ALS! December2020 REBZFEICASICA 1089817 1674541 S8 SMO 2B 213569 299124
Accumulated amortisation, RetRE  TERAERS:
depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2020 R=Z=TF-f-H 79918 1,564,779 3,083 = 2,297,780 91,956 2,389,736
Exchange adjustments B A% 21514 41999 157 = 69,670 = 69,670
Charge for the year (note 5(c) ERpx (H5(0) 11,648 6,219 558 = 18,425 4731 2315
Written back on disposals HERD - (10,604 (3) - (10,639) = (10639)
AL Decemoer200 .. REBRRICASTOA 769080 ] 1602398 3 S S T B %087 2B
Net book value: SRR -
At 31 December 2020 e e 270,737 72,148 2,084 3,440 348,409 116,882 465,291
Cost: R
At 1 January 2021 W=E=—-F-fA—-AH 1,039,817 1,674,541 5,847 3440 2,723,645 213,569 2,937,214
Exchange adjustments ERAE 14,127 20,575 81 - 34,783 - 34,783
Additions RE - 10,214 - 7,069 17,283 - 17,283
Transfer from construction in progress E&EBERTE 62 2,498 — (2,560) - - -
Disposals HE (6,082) (22,881) (344) - (29,307) - (29,307)
At31 December2021__________ RORSCEESASTOR 1047924 1684947 5580 7,949 2746404 213569 _ 2959973
Accumulated amortisation, 2oHAE  FERAEER
depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2021 R=E=—4%-f—-H 769,080 1,602,393 3,763 — 2,375,236 96,687 2,471,923
Exchange adjustments B R A% 13,403 20,238 77 - 33,718 — 33,718
Charge for the year (note 5(c) ERpEx (M50 10,817 6,936 630 - 18,383 4,709 23,092
Written back on disposals HERE (6,082) (21,257) (344) - (27,683) — (27,683)
At31December2021 ... ACETCELCASICA 787218 1608310 4120 . —....2399654 101,396 _ 2501050
Net book value: SRR -
At 31 December 2021 R=E-_—F+-A=-1+—H 260,706 76,637 1,458 7,949 346,750 112,173 458,923
[ ]
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11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 P BRREHE KREIVERA
properties and leasehold land (Continued) 1 (&)
(b) Investment properties (b) ®EWE
The Group leases out investment properties which are located at Nos. AEBIRBLLEREBUNE B HKEKX
9-11 Shing Wan Road, Tai Wai, Shatin, Hong Kong under operating leases. BT IREY L - MAFH—%
The leases typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with BE=F  n[EEREIBAKETREY
an option to renew each lease upon expiry at which time all terms are EEEEIETE G - BEEAOHNTE
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. FHAEE o
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases AEBIRE T A& ZH S M EUR 2 &R K
in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future HEFENAT
periods as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
$'000 $'000
T T
Within 1 year —F R 20,466 21,753
After 1 year but within 2 years —FERERFEA 8,959 16,588
After 2 years but within 3 years MEER=FNK 969 5,081
30,394 43,422
(c) The fair value of the investment properties at 31 December 2021is  (€) ®BEWER -_ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—H

$534,400,000 (2020: $461,200,000). The fair value of investment properties
located in Hong Kong is determined on an open market value basis, by
either making reference to the comparable sales evidence in the relevant
locality, or otherwise, by capitalising the net rent income receivable from
the existing tenancies and the reversionary value of properties after
tenancies expire.

The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, who have among their staff Members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with valuation experience in the
location and category of the property being valued.

The fair value measurements are categorised as Level 3 valuations under
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

2 A fo {8 /534,400,0007T ( — B = T4 ¢
461,200,0007T) * LA BB EWEDH A
AERRBEAMMSEEET @ FAAUUE
2Z AR A AT ERK R BIEAEE
REBRARL TR FHRS W ATREL
BB ERNFIREEEANEL -

BEIBEELAEMTMETIEMARA
AT EBEBERABIEMZENHEE
g8 EMfMEFREMLENMERRAKE

AREFERBEEEMBEHRELERF 135
[AR(EEE] FIER 2 = MAnBERE
BRBRRE=MMHE - BAABEFENH
ZEBTHE2E N NMEETEMBEEZA
BRUNBENHREE

- F—RhE  EERFE -RBARE
(ARGt ERRBEERBENGRE
MG AREHERE) FFEZARE

- BERMME: ERE KRB ABE
(BIREEEDFE — B2 ERB AR
1) B R ERERTATERE AR
BETEZRTE - TABRBARE
REMSEIE 2 WA BIE

- FE=RHE  RAERTABRREIE
FFEZARE
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11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 PE - BBREEMH  REDERA
properties and leasehold land (Continued) 1 (&)

(c) (Continued) (c) (&)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation
techniques
HEF N

=M REHEEER

Unobservable
input
A B EREE

Range
#iE

Investment properties
Industrial — Hong Kong

wEME
IXRE—&B

Investment properties
Industrial — Hong Kong

Sales comparison approach

PREZ L BUE

Investment method of
income approach

Premium/(discount) on 0% to 10%
quality of the buildings (2020: 0% to 10%)
MEEEFH 0% = 10%

BEE () (ZZ=ZF : 0% = 10%)

1.9% t0 3.9%
(2020: 2.0% t0 4.0%)

Discount rates

BB
TR® — &%

BEWR

The premium or discount on quality of the buildings used in sales
comparison approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sales. High premium for higher quality buildings will result in a high fair
value measurement.

The discount rates used in investment method of income approach have
been adjusted for the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate
and quality and location of the buildings. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the market rental value and negatively correlated

BRI

to the discount rate.

1.9% £ 3.9%
(ZEB-FF : 20%E4.0%)

PR L EDER EREE AR EEEEM
BRMEEINEZGEEENFHE - =M
EENRRERSRRENARE -

BB AP AR XD RIBEEMNT
HEEER - HEEARREEYEE SR
BEETTHE AREETSESEEZE
AR - HERGR X2 B AR -

(d) Right-of-use assets (d) EREEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of EREEENKEFE UAERNEESD
underlying asset is as follows: HEANT
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEEF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T Ft
Ownership interests in leasehold land ~ FIBBEEENF+ZE R+ -
and buildings held for own use, URBEBREIEERZEE
carried at depreciated cost in T REF B EER
Hong Kong, with remaining lease LAB T ERK AT R
term of between 10 and 50 years (i) 260,706 270,737
Machinery, equipment, furniture Hes - Bl BEREEER
and fixtures, carried at LAB TR AT R
depreciated cost (ii) 4,306 46
265,012 270,783
ownership interests in leasehold FHBEENFTERTF -
investment properties, carried at LAB AT B ARSI AR AT
depreciated cost, with remaining HEREYE EERER
lease term of between
10 and 50 years 112,173 116,882
377,185 387,665
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11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 P BRREHE KREIVERA
properties and leasehold land (Continued) 1 (&)
(d) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (d) FHEEE &
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or BN BRI RRAHEEESENFEXEE S
loss is as follows: HIREEN
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TEF
$'000 $'000
T ToT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets RIAEE « HRIEIH 2
by class of underlying asset: FRBEENESD
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings #8{FERAZHEE L REFT 2
held for own use WA RS 10,817 11,648
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures Hes - BB BERRER 400 27
Ownership interests in leasehold investment HEREMFE 2 EAEEER
properties 4,709 4,731
15,926 16,406
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $4,660,000 (2020: RER - FILEAEEER $4,660,000( ==
$57,000). This amount related to the capitalised lease payments payable ZF4F : $57,000) o ZeFEEBENEEHE
under a new lease for machinery. HENOHE T HERNMEEER -
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease HEMNRSRHRBENEEAGEHHR ST
liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 22, respectively. REFAE RS BITEMIFE 17(d) 12251 H ©
(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for (i) BEEERZHEL R BT o HEEERE
own use =
The Group holds a number of properties for its beers business. The Group REERERREGHEBEIBEYE - AE5H
is the registered owner of these property interests, including the share in 7%& VgL (BIEEELT) BEMEE
the underlying land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire o AEREBINT —FHE - URERE
these property interests from their previous registered owners. %Iﬁ?%ﬁ/\?%?%%%%%%é o
(ii)  Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures (i)  #e5 2E - KRREE
The Group leases two machineries under leases expiring in 5 to 10 years. AEEHEENBNAPRE+F - FTAHE
None of the leases includes variable lease payments. A TNBERHHEERNK -
12 Intangible assets 12 EREE
Club
Trademarks debentures Total
[EEES BFTERER Fk
$’ OOO $ OOO $ OOO

Cost:

At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2020 and
31 December 2021

Accumulated impairment
losses:

At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2021 and

RETRERR

RZZE_TF—H—-H-
:%f$¢+iﬂ:+—ﬂ~

.. 31December2021 ... s oy ey s e i) = R 30006 T 39,116 .
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2020 and RZE_EF+_A=+—HK
31 December 2021 —E——&+=-HA=+—H — 4,771 4,771
[ ]
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(BRABIETIN

IR E)

13 Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

company:

13 MELFES
TREFIAARMAHBARER -

Proportion of

Place of Issued share ownership
incorporation/ capital/registered interest held by Principal
Name of company operation capital Company Subsidiary activity
B3y apd BRITRE FrERERD
NEEB A i B & A NG| MEAR FEEK
Hongkong Brewery Hong Kong 100 100% — Dormant
Limited (“"HKBL") ordinary shares
(note () (FH&E ()
B 100 % TmEE
R iilie
San Miguel (Guangdong) Hong Kong 18,000 92.989% — Investment
Limited class “A" shares holding
£N8 (ER) BRAR B 18,000 fi% AR
(A) I
1,000 100% —
class “B” shares
1,000 Az
(B) iz
Guangzhou San Miguel PRC Registered capital: — 70% Dormant
Brewery Company US$36,507,000
Limited (“GSMB")
(note (ii))
I A H B AR A A H & T
([ EM A 1) (BEE (i) 36,507,000 T
San Miguel Shunde Holdings Hong Kong 200,000 92% — Investment
Limited ordinary shares holding
BB 200,000 % TE PR
=Rl
San Miguel (Guangdong) PRC Registered capital: — 100% Manufacture
Brewery Company Limited US$87,933,000 and distribution of
("SMGB") (note (iii)) beer
£ 5 (BR) BBBERAR A G FEMEA Rl sHE R
(M= R 1) (K& i) 87,933,000 %7
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13 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) 13 MMEBLFRER
Notes: BT

0]

(ifi)

HKBL has not traded since incorporation but it established a joint venture,
Global Brews Hong Kong Limited, in Hong Kong on 18 March 2011. HKBL
holds a 50% equity interest in this entity. As at the date of the approval
of these financial statements, the joint venture has not commenced
operations.

As at 29 November 2020, GSMB terminated its operations. The operation
was being transferred to SMGB, another PRC subsidiary of the Group.
The Group put GSMB into voluntary liguidations under the procedures
prescribed under the laws of the PRC. As a result, a one-off severance
payment of $10,894,000 was charged to profit or loss in 2020 (note 5(b)).

On 21 January 2022, management filed an application for bankruptcy of
GSMB with the Guangzhou Intermediate People’s Court, PRC. The board of
directors is of the opinion that the bankruptcy application will not have a
significant impact on profit or loss.

SMGB is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise with an operating period of 50
years expiring on 4 August 2042.

The following table lists out the information relating to SMGB, the only
subsidiary of the Group which has material non-controlling interests
("NCI"). The summarised financial information presented below represents
the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

0]

(ii)

HKBL B EMACIZASR - —ER B ETTEM
RE  BRZZE——F=A+N\BRES
37 7 — &4 A& Global Brews Hong Kong
Limited & & AR - HKBLIFEZEEE
%Zﬁﬂ%ﬂ& HEAUHREMEZ
H - Z& & REE KRR EER -

GSMBﬁAfif?iﬂL AZ+hA&KlE

BB - ZEBCEREALETETENS
f%BHEQESMGB o REEBEFEH L
BIRTENRFSCSVBEITERER - 4
2 AFEEERRTNR—SBNERE
10,894,000 7t ( Mi5E5(b)) ©

GSMBR—Z - —F—A-+—H&EDTH
EMTHRFARERRERE - EFER
REERFRTESHERELBTATE -

£7 (BER) BEERARREINEHEE
¥ BEREHPRRTE  R-TM_F
A B & o

TREJEWENERZER - ENERZ
AEBEME—FEERFERERAMER
A NI AN EETA AR
HIHRT 2 258

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
$'000 $'000
FT T
NCI percentage FEEIRER B L 8% 8%
Current assets mENEE 124,998 116,754
Non-current assets IEmMBNE E 39,473 37,909
Current liabilities MEEE (35,635) (39,905)
Non-current liabilities JEmEAaE (375,002) (381,287)
Net liabilities BEEE (246,166) (266,529)
Carrying amount of NCI PR R AR E (A (19,693) (21,322)
Revenue WA 227,867 131,055
Profit for the year EERF 27,857 43,053
Total comprehensive income Eﬁiﬁuﬂz 1a%s 27,857 43,053
Profit allocated to NCI @Ei#%fﬂxﬁéﬁn ol 2,229 3,444
Cash generated from operating activities AR ZIRE WA 11,243 315115
Cash used in investing activities BEEKZBEERE (875) (4,259)
[ ]
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14 Inventories 14 &
2021 2020
—E-—= —F-F
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Products in hand and in process REEMRERSR 37,704 32,449
Materials and supplies Wt R A e 31,670 24,260
69,374 56,709
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as ERARAXZFESEAMAT
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold (note 5(c)) HEFEREEAE (FE5(C) 350,894 309,672
15 Trade and other receivables 15 BERESIRAEMIEER
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-ETF
$'000 $'000
T T
Trade receivables eI E SER 31,634 32,448
Less: loss allowance B EE R (553) (763)
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance [ 5 85 i B 18 4 31,081 31,685
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments HAibpEUER - & RIERFRIE 11,169 11,090
42,250 42,775

The amount of the deposits and prepayments expected to be recovered
or recognised as expenses after more than one year is $801,000 (2020:
$1,150,000). All of the other trade receivables, other debtors, deposits and
prepayments are expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses
within one year.

The Group held collateral over trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period with attributable values as set out below:

RNEBEZ R —F R ARE S ER AT H
iz e RIERFRIES RS 54 801,000 7T (=
T T4 11,150,000 Jv) ° FTE EA R H
SERE N EMEWER - e RIBN BB
E—FERAREEGIEER -

AEBEEERRBRESRERFAUTE
Han

2021 2020

—E—F ZETF

$'000 $'000

T R

Buildings Ly/E3 5,000 7,115
Cash deposits MEFNR 1,965 1,801

Cash deposits disclosed above are included in the other creditors and
accrued charges and are expected to be settled after more than one year,
as disclosed in note 18.

The Group considers that the credit risk arising from the trade receivables
is mitigated by the collateral in the amounts indicated above. The value
of the buildings collateral represents the estimated market value of the
buildings as at 31 December 2021.

—
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15

16

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Ageing analysis

The ageing of trade receivables (net of loss allowance) at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

15

Bl R 7 R HMARE (&)

AR DA

FEUWE ZHRIA (CHRRBRRE) NEERZ
AREQIAT

Current

Less than 1 month past due

1to 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less than

12 months past due

More than 12 months past due

REH
BHBELR—EA
BEHIHA—Z==18A°
BHBEAZR=MAZE
+—={@A
BHBEZR+ @A

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
$'000 $'000

T T
28,933 24,780
1,433 5,253

479 966

165 670

71 16

31,081 31,685

According to the Group’s credit policy set out in note 24(a), the general
credit period is payment by the end of the month following the month
in which sales take place. Therefore, all the current balances above are

within two months from the invoice date.

Amounts due from/(to) holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries and related companies

Amounts due from/(to) holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and recoverable/repayable
on demand except for the following trade-related amounts which are

recoverable/repayable under normal trade terms:

16

IR S B a7 I 7T 24(0) IS EBUER - —
REEHRNIEEZEANERE A ARED
HURTER o Bt - AP B AR A 3 A 1
BMMEAA -

FEdy  (FEfH) BRERAT - AR
BRI RAEATRER

BT B SFURRRE DRI AT - U
(FER) ZBRAR - RARMBARREEAR
RRIFIGEIRIR - 8 RIRFERKE B

2021 2020
—BE-—F —ETF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Amounts due from holding companies il el /NG
and fellow subsidiaries MBS NGIERE 11,706 16,723
Amounts due to holding companies FEAHZERG A ]
and fellow subsidiaries BB =GR (329) (732)
Amounts due to related companies JEAS B N R BRIA (3,196) (7,084)

The trade-related balances were not past due as at 31 December 2021

and 2020.

Related companies included a non-controlling shareholder and companies,
the ultimate holding company of which has significant influence over the

Group.

HEGHBAEEN T —FR_T_F
FHoA=t—RHIARIE -

B N B B AR R A R AR A R
UAREBEEERTENRAT -
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17 cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits 17 BeRE¥ERESBFEHRBITER
(@) cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits comprise: (a) BE&RZFEELSERRBITEREIE:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ERTEE
$'000 $°000
Tt Tt
Bank deposits within three months of FREEISHEA=EARN
maturity when placed BYERTTIF 3K 54,532 65,136
Cash at banks and on hand RITEGELERS 47,275 47,203
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated RE SRR R
statement of financial position and RiZEHESRERT
consolidated cash flow statement IS R ERIKESIER 101,807 112,339
Bank deposits with more than three FHERE R AfRE=E A
months to maturity when placed B)SRIT1E R 30,579 43,770
Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits as at 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H R KER
include $32,901,000 (2020: $30,376,000) placed with banks in the Mainland REBEE RIRITHERE %ﬁﬁAﬂP B 7 i R
China, the remittance of which is subject to relevant rules and regulations #732,901,0007T ( = F = & 4 : 30,376,000
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. 7T) - HEFEZH IBZW%EHE’JH AR &
SNEERFTE I
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) PBRBAIEANELEEKCHEERAA
generated from operations: ik :
2021 2020
—E_—F —EFF
Note $'000 $'000
B EE T Tt
Profit before taxation B BT &R 22,011 12,547
Adjustments for: FERY|EEEL AR -
Interest income FEUA 4 (937) (1,187)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEIERBEE 2 IEEF
plant and equipment 4 (1,345) (899)
Interest expense AESH 5(a) 1,438 2,253
Depreciation of property, M RBNREZITE
plant and equipment 5(c) 18,383 18,425
Depreciation of investment properties &Y% > e 5(c) 4,709 4,731
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) GNEE A g (R 184 (1,670)
Changes in working capital: BIBER Y E#E)
Increase in inventories FEZEm (12,665) (5,682)
Decrease in trade and J?EHSZ,éf S REMIRIE 2
other receivables > 497 8,524
Decrease in amounts due from FEHSZT /N T&H%Fﬁ%
holding companies and fellow TEEIEZ,U@
subsidiaries 4,726 2,766
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due FEUWEE A RIARIE
from related companies () m (13) 232
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to B AR A &) K 7 Z M1 B A &)
holding companies and EEIEZ (,ﬂz ) 1A
fellow subsidiaries (1,800) 8
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to Jrgﬁga‘gﬂaaﬁlaz
a related company m) N (3,523) 4,343
Increase/(decrease) in J‘&‘H%’%&ﬁﬂﬁéﬁz
trade and other payables #mn, CrA) 2,117 (274
Increase in retirement benefit liabilities  RAKER| B E 2180 3,249 1,964
Cash generated from operations BEEBZIREMA 37,031 46,081
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17

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

17 BeREFRARSFRARBITER
(%)

(o) HRMEITBELEZEBHAEBX

RNEEFERERENTEE 2 BEFHE
FERENIRLES BN TR - EEFﬂ
BIREEENET - EDZ%EZ%%‘%?@%&H%%
WHEER  REAKENGEReRERY
g%ﬁxéﬁﬂé/ﬁﬁzfﬁfm °

Loans from Lease
related companies liabilities Total
BEARENK HEasE %R
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt T+t
At1Jjanuary 2020 . R=%2=-2%—-A—-8 102230 ... 932 .. 103,162
Changes from financing RERSRZEE
cash flows:
Proceeds from new loans from FER RIS ERFA
related companies 3,854 = 3,854
Repayment of loans from ERTHEEATER
related companies (12,719) = (12,719)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 2 AHER EAELHD i (943) (943)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 & #YFIS #B1H — (15) (15)
Other borrowing costs paid HEBEEERAR (2,238) (2,238)
Total changes from financing RIE RSB EE)
cgashflows . (11103) (958) . (12,061) __
Exchange adjustments FE LA (476) — (476)
Other changes: Hihs)
Increase in lease liabilities from REEREZEFTHEL
entering into a new lease g M Es &
during the year — 57 57
Interestexpenses ... MBS 22388 .05 2,253
At 31 December 2020 and HN-=—=&+=-HA=+—H
. Mlanuary 2021 R=%=—-%-A-B 92,889 ... 46 92935
Changes from financing RERSR2EH
cash flows:
Repayment of loans from BRTRHEARIER
related companies (51,172) — (51,172)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 2SR EAELD — (1,050) (1,050)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 215 E&F 8265 — (61) (61)
Other borrowing costs paid A B AEERA (1,377) — (1,377)
Total changes from financing RIE RSB EE
Ccashflows ... (52,549) . any (53,660)
Exchange adjustments FE R 634 — 634
Other changes: HAh 5
Increase in lease liabilities from REEREZETHEL
entering into a new lease g AMmiEE & E
during the year — 4,660 4,660
Interestexpenses ... MBS 1377 6 ] 1,438
At 31 December 2021 R=-ZB_—5+-HA=+—H 42,351 3,656 46,007

—
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17 cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits 177 Be&RERBASFEARBITER
(Continued) (8&)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d HEERESAHB%E
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for leases HEEAS AR RERZZ2EBEEUTE
comprise the following: 17 :
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —ETF
$'000 $'000
T T
Within operating cash flows BEELEEEIREN 1,254 801
Within financing cash flows BEEREESRESRN 1,111 958
2,365 1,759
18 Trade and other payables 18 EFEIRHEMIRIEA
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
$'000 $'000
Fi T
Trade payables JERTE ZARIE 41,632 37,823
Other creditors and accrued charges H ith (S BRIE 43,512 45,204
85,144 83,027

FEARZR—FEINNEMEMNEER
TEIRE B 5 545,820,000T (Z T —Z4F ¢
3,835,0007T) ° FTE RN E S R HAMER

The amounts of other creditors and accrued charges expected to be
settled after more than one year are $5,820,000 (2020: $3,835,000). All of
the other trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one

year. BIEFHE—F AT ©
The ageing of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period is as ENESRENEER ZRENT -
follows:
2021 2020
B —E-TF
$'000 $'000
T T
Current and less than 1 month past due REEA R BEI R DR —E A 39,691 36,966
1to 3 months past due BB AE—E==EA 1,843 676
3to 6 months past due B A=Z2/NEA 98 139
More than 6 months past due BHIE %P8 A — 42
41,632 37,823

The Group’s general payment terms are one to two months from the REBH—BRAFERENEZEBHE—=
invoice date. Therefore, the current and less than one month past due FMIE A AEIE - Eit » iR BB B ER A
balances above are mostly within two to three months from the invoice DR—EANBERRKLOIIEERZRERE

date. =EAA -
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19 Loans from related companies 19 RELFER
(@) The analysis of the carrying amount of loans from (@) FEQLATEXRNIRMED MY
related companies is as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TE
$'000 $°000
Ft e
Loan from an intermediate holding company RN AR 2 B
(note 19(b)(i)) (B =E 19(b) (i) 38,383 89,035
Loan from a related company (note 19(b)(ii)) BE AT E R (FEEE 19(0)i) 3,968 3,854
42,351 92,889
(b)  Significant terms and repayment schedule of loans (b) BAEARERZHERRERD
from related companies
(i) Loan from an intermediate holding company (i) FAERATIZER
At 31 December 2021, the loan from an intermediate holding company REZZBZ—F+ZA=+—H BNEBRA
was repayable as follows: Al ERERTYIAIRES -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Within 1 year or on demand —FANIERZREER 38,383 50,877
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERTRN — 38,158
38,383 89,035
Loan from an intermediate holding company is unsecured, repayable in RIERA R EFRAEER - W95 5
seven equal instalments until September 2022 and bears interest at one BEEE-T_FhA  AENRNERE—
year London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 1.5% which ranged FHMBERTTRIZEIT S IN1.5% EEAH1.72%
from 1.72% to 2.02% during the year (2020: 1.83% t0 3.46%). B202% (ZZE=ZFNRE1.83% £ 3.46%) °
(i)  Loan from a related company (i) BEELITNER
The loan from a related company bears interest at 4.35%, is unsecured RABERTHERTEE435% - KT
and is repayable on demand. WAEEKIERE -

—_—
—_
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20 Employee retirement benefits 20 EREHERIEF
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (@) TEHEEFRIAKETE
The Group makes contributions to a defined benefit retirement plan RIE B ZERIRET BB (BHEEDIE 426
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordnance B) AEBAHN2% (T T F : 11%)
(Chapter 426 of the Laws of the Hong Kong), which covers 12% (2020: 11%) ZREBRETEEMNEAKGTE - &2 A
of the Group’s employees. The plan is administered by an independent —BBIAEATE WHAAEERTEES
trustee, with the assets held separately from those of the Group. The FBN BRI - ZAtEIRBUYNEETAETE
members’ benefits are determined based on the employees’ final HEEREFEEESHIFAE - KEEHN IR
remuneration and length of service. EEZREH & MIRBFEHTE -
Under the scheme, a retired employee is entitled to a benefit based on BIEZETE - RN EE BRABBERER
their completed years of service and salary on the date of leaving service. TRBIREFEMFSESER -
Contributions to the plan are made in accordance with the RRGTEI 2 R IRRBE L EER 2 EZEm
recommendations of an independent actuary who values the retirement BN c ZETEIRF 2 B BEEETITR T
plan at regular intervals. The latest independent actuarial valuations of ——F+ZA=+—HEEH (FEF) BRA
the plan were at 31 December 2021 and were prepared by qualified A (BFHFCERROIMAMEE) 2EXSEK
staff of Mercers (Hong Kong) Limited, who are the member of Chartered EEMRABEEBUEEAET -  AAMEAE
Enterprise Risk Actuary, using the projected unit credit method. The AR AEERIEZATENEINTZIFMEAER
actuarial valuations indicate that the Group’s obligations under the defined T2ETEPRBB( T -TF : 98%) Rz
benefit retirement plan are 98% (2020: 98%) covered by the plan assets SEABE CETEIBERE -
held by the trustees.
The plans expose the Group to actuarial risk, such as interest rate risk, FZETEl S AEBEAZBEERR - A ER
investment risk and salary risk. - AR KRR
0} The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial () RIS RAER 2 AT -
position are as follows:
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E_TF
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Present value of funded obligations BEYMEMEMNIRE 109,665 113,455
Fair value of plan assets HEEEZANE (107,908) (111,077)
Retirement benefit liabilities RIKEAIBE 1,757 2,378
A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after more than FalE 5 B EFEIBRER—FRST - A
one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate this amount from the - BRRNEFEE K E 2 B SRR
amounts payable in the next twelve months, as the retirement benefit ATEIBE 2 AREFRARTIRE BR 2 KK
payable to plan members and future contributions to plan assets will also gy A TNEERZERBERR T Z(E
depend on staff revenue and future changes in actuarial assumptions. The AZENFESHERE - AEEBHEZZ
Group expects to pay $1,410,000 in contributions to the defined benefit ZZHF 11,410,000 7T 45 [ BB R FRRET
retirement plan in 2022. 2] BFRIE -
[
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20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 {EEE#FREF (B
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (Continued) (@) TEEEFERMKETE (B
(ii) Plan assets consist of the following: (ii) AFEIEERE
2021 2020
:_—\'ﬁ:_fﬁ — 7 —= fﬁ
$'000 $'000
Tt T
Equity securities A& 52,875 53,317
Bonds E%& 53,307 54,428
Cash HE 1,726 3,332
107,908 111,077

(iii)

An asset-liability matching study was performed by the trustees
periodically to analyse the outcome of the strategic investment policies.
The investment portfolio targets a mix of 45% in equity securities across
a range of industries and 55% in government bonds (2020: 45% in equity
securities across a range of industries and 55% in government bonds).

REERE - XFEASETEEABLERH

T WAHTIE BUR KA
BiRR— RIITTE 2 45% K

RZFER - REHEE
REFBFAEE R

55% EUT{ES o (ZZEZZF : A5%RRESH

408 N 55% BUFES)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations: (iii) ERERABENREZD
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ERTEF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
At 1 January R—H—H 113,455 105,428
Remeasurements: (e
— Actuarial gains arising from — AORBRREFHELERD
changes in demographic assumptions TEE & (3) @)
— Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from — U BREHELH
changes in financial assumptions BE (BA) /Eia (5,579) 4,374
— Actuarial gains arising from — Z%%‘ ‘EJJEEE’J
changes in experience TBEAT (792) (2,492)
(6,374) 1,878
Benefits paid by the plan AT 2 @ F (2,287) =
Current service cost IR AR TS A AN 4,432 4,315
Interest cost FB A 439 1,834
At 31 December Rt+t=—HA=+—H 109,665 113,455

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 4.3

years (2020: 5.1 years).

ERBNEEZIMETSFHRLI3IF (ZF

TEE515) -
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20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 EREHEER &
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (Continued) (a) TEEEFENKGSE (&)
(iv) Movements in plan assets: (iv) FEIBEEZE2H :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
$'000 $°000
T Tt
At 1 January ®—A—H 111,077 94,687
Contributions paid to the plan by the employer B T2 1,399 2,717
Benefits paid by the plan FTEIZ T2 2R (2,287) —
Interest income FEMA 435 1,664
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income FEBEEZEHR (TEFEMNEUA) (2,504) 12,205
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets HEEEZITHREX (212) (196)
At 31 December Rt+t=—A=+—H 107,908 111,077
V) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement and statement (V) REFEE2ERERERZAINT :
of comprehensive income are as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
$'000 $°'000
FT FT
Current service cost IR RS AR 4,432 4,315
Net interest on net defined benefit liability TERERTFAE 2T B FE 4 170
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets FEEEZITHHX 212 196
Total amounts recognised in profit or loss RBZRPHERA X 4,648 4,681
Actuarial (gains)/losses BE (&F) /Eia (6,374) 1,878
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income sTEIEEZ R (TeRFERSEWA) 2,504 (12,205)
Total amounts recognised in other REMEEBERERZ
comprehensive income (note 9) sz (3E9) (3,870) (10,327)
Total defined benefit costs/(income) ERENEE S (WA) 425 778 (5,646)
The current service cost, net interest on net defined 5 2R b5 AR 75 5k AN 12 7 5848 7l
benefit liability and administrative expenses paid FEEZFEFEIIRN
from plan assets are recognised in the following TosmazsRz A
line items in the consolidated income statement: ZIEE R
— Cost of sales — SHERAR 755 732
— Selling and distribution expenses — SHE R HEAX 2,252 2,260
— Administrative expenses — ITHAX 1,641 1,689
4,648 4,681
(vi)  Significant actuarial assumptions and a sensitivity analysis are as follows: (vi) FEMBEREMPRESTOT ¢
2021 2020
—E=-—F —ZT_TF
Discount rate (p.a.) BRIRK (§4) 1.10% 1.80%
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Future salary increases (p.a.)

AR 2L RE (BF)

2.00%-4.00%

4.00%-4.50%
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 EREH#HE2EF (&
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (Continued) (@) TEEEABRAKTE (B
(viy  (Continued) (vi) (#&)
The analysis set out below shows how the defined benefit obligations as THDMEE T EREEBRE0.25% 2 &b %
at 31 December 2021 would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a THEEMNEeER - E-_—4F+-_A=+—H
0.25% change in the significant actuarial assumptions: B, CFid) ik -
2021 2020
—E=-—F —ECEF
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
of 0.25% of 0.25% of 0.25% of 0.25%
#110.25% WA 0.25% H#21100.25% A 0.25%
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FT FT T Tt
Discount rate ARIR = (1,147) 1,174 (1,465) 1,450
Salary increase rate S = 1,410 (1,384) 1,677 (1,643)
The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes FBRESTEEZBERE ZELET
in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore it does not take R - Rt BRE S E BEERR
into account the correlations between the actuarial assumptions. MaHEEMY
- - - - f—] ﬁ:_kh\ .l. ;
(b) Defined contribution retirement plans (b) ERMHARCRAEE

Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong who are not members of the
above defined benefit retirement plan are required to join the Group’s
mandatory provident fund plan under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory provident fund plan is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by an independent corporate
trustee. Under the plan, the Group and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of pension
schemes operated by the PRC government. The Group is required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the employees’
remuneration, to these pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation for the Group with respect to these pension schemes is the
required contribution under the central pension scheme. Contributions to
these schemes vest immediately.

(i)

REEE CRHERTEREGD) - K&
V] 2 7 R P T I 488 0 A _E 3t 7 RS R AR AR
FEIMES - BMAAKENRHIEATES
A8l - SRBIME AR SR & — Bl B A E
XREABENERIIFERAGE - RIZAH
HE - AEEREEE R QAR EELH
R BBELEBAMALHSS  HEEABRH
A B &S 7K /30,000 7T 5T &I E H ey
KNS5 o

TFEIME A RRE AT BEBFEENT RE
KB EINKE - REBAH T REAREE
AEFRERBRENREHRES  BENESR
MR BENLEE - AEBEBRETRERES
B — R ARIEP RR IR F BIZAE
HEEREHR o S B MRS -
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21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21 HMERRLRFRINZHREBRIE
financial position

(@) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (a) CRIAZELEHEEERES:
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the PGSR ROHERZBEERBEE R
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during BEZHEKEN D RERZ EEINT -

the year are as follows:

Depreciation  Impairment
allowances losses for
inexcess of  receivables  Retirement

the related and benefit
depreciation  inventories liabilities Tax losses Total
FERHE FEkERIE
BRAEENE kEE BRINER
ZBE ZHEFE 28 BiEERE pok
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
Deferred tax arising from: EEFERE
At 1 January 2020 R-E-TF—F—H 40,382 (45) (1,777) (39,060) —
(Credited)/charged to profit or iy b
loss (note 6(a)) (FIA) /08 (FizE6(@) (929) (80) 9% (371) (1,284)
Charged to equity (note 9) PEERETA (F17E9) = — 1,284 — 1,284
At 31 December 2020 and i - ¢+ A=1+—H
1 January 2021 —Z2-—%—f—H 39,953 (125) (397) (39,431) -
(Credited)/charged to profit or EA}EEP
loss (note 6(a)) (FTA) /408 (HizE6()) (902) 33 5 767 (97)
Charged to equity (note 9) PERFEA (F9) - - 97 - 97
At 31 December 2021 W-—E-—F+-A=+—H 39,051 (92) (295) (38,664) —
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised: (b) RERZELEHEEE:
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following ARBER P RN B R RARFLARRT
items, which pertain to the subsidiaries in the PRC and the Company: P IE B Frol B2 IRER TE B E i AR
2021 2020
—EB-—F T FAF
$'000 $'000
T T
Tax losses FHIEEE 161,489 207,173
Deductible temporary differences ISR ER 110,234 113,826
271,723 320,999
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(p), deferred RIBZIRFHIFE 1) 5T BUR + AR RAERE
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is ERBHBA TiEX““ IES R HERBA
not probable that the relevant entities will generate future taxable profits FISIEMERZ - BHAEE L KR LHIE
against which the above items can be utilised. EFTSI B BIERIBEE ©
[
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21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21 BBRRRFRFIZERFRIE (&)
financial position (Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised: (Continued) (b) KREZIZBELEREEZE @ (8)
The unrecognised tax losses relating to the PRC subsidiaries can be BERATENBARIREZNHEEEEEL
carried forward up to five years from the year in which the loss originated HEREER - BEEEHIAT -
and will expire in the following years:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TEF
$'000 $'000
T T
2021 T — 36,365
2023 —E-=4F 25,733 24,998
2024 —E_mF 5,756 5,592
31,489 66,955
The unrecognised tax losses relating to the Company were $130,000,000 AN B AR B RR A 4 18 5 78 % 130,000,000 7T
(2020: $140,218,000) and do not expire under current tax legislation. (ZZ=Z4F : 140,218,000 7T) * WHRIRITHL
RO T T EE -
22 Lease liabilities 22 MHEAR
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the TRINRTEBR AR EHAR LB E
Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting ROHEEBE 2 FBREHEEA
periods:
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
Present Present
value of the value of the
lease Total lease lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HE HE Gizh=1 Gizh-1
NREZRE NREE RECRE TR sagE
$'000 $'000 $° 000 $° 000
Fr Fr Tt FT
Within 1 year —FR 362 433 1 13
After 1year but within 2 years ~ —FR&EBMER 375 433 12 13
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ FIFEEERER 1,146 1,273 23 25
After 5 years AFi% 1,773 1,837 = =
3,294 3,543 35 38
3,656 3,976 46 51
Less: total future interest R AR ABF B =
expenses (320) (5)
Present value of lease liabilities M EBEZEE 3,656 46
[
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23 capital and reserves 23 KEFEREHRH

(@) Movements in components of equity () HEEIIEEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of KEEZZ ABRERPZBOHFI N FRA
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the m/\“@;ﬁﬁqﬁu%}z VNN =S |
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the ¢g/\ DEEYRERSEEIFENIATG
Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and & -

the end of the year are set out below:

Share Retained
capital profits Total
B Ed-1 ] A
Note $'000 $'000 $'000
BiEE T T Tt
Balance at 1 January 2020 R_ZB_FF-H—B&EH 252,524 188,960 441,484
Changes in equity for 2020: —E_TEEREE
Actuarial gains and losses of TE BB R AIRET S
defined benefit retirement plan,  Z & ZEH & E1E
net of tax (BRBi18) — 9,043 9,043
Profit for the year FREAN = 13,803 13,803
Balance at 31 December 2020 %—g_gﬁﬂ-zﬁ =+—H
and 1 January 2021 F—EB-_—F—F—H#&H% 27 252,524 211,806 464,330
Changes in equity for 2021: TEC-FREREH:
Actuarial gains and losses of TE FEAE FI R IRET 2]
defined benefit retirement plan, ZIBE AR & EE
net of tax (BRFi1&) — 3,773 3,773
Profit for the year FEAF — 8,633 8,633
Balance at 31 December 2021 AR=ZE=—H%+=-HA=+—H
wEEh 27 252,524 224,212 476,736
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23 capital and reserves (Continued) 23 BERGEHW (&
(b) Share capital (b) R
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
No. of No. of
shares shares
BRHOEE Esnt 4=
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
T T T
ordinary shares, issued TER BRT
and fully paid: RS ERA :
At 1 January and n—A—8
31 December k+=RA=+—H 373,570 252,524 373,570 252,524
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, RIEES CARMEDI) % 1351& » AFIRMD T
the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par value. BAZEEE -
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as %iﬁﬁﬁﬁj\ﬁﬁqﬁz%$E%EEEEEQH%'%‘%E
- - : AEARRNEIREG EERA —REkHIR—F -
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at HWINAA TR EAE  FEERELEE
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to @g;r»é Lo FARIAE
the Company's residual assets. )
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) HmHERAZ
(i) Capital reserve (i) =N
The capital reserve represents the reserve arising from the capitalisation BARBEIIE—ETRMNB AR ZRE & F
of retained profits of PRC subsidiaries. B MELEZFHE -
(i)  Exchange fluctuation reserve (i) EXRBREE

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and the foreigh exchange differences
arising from translation of monetary items that in substance form part of
the net investment in subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s).

L RBFEESERETE AN ZHEBL
AP BRRELZMEELZENABER
¥ B (BB R IMOK B R R 2 FR
B) ZENERE - ZREFEREME 1) Pr#lz
SETEEMERE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)

23 capital and reserves (Continued) 23 BERfHW (&

(d) Distributability of reserves (d) 2ikf#E
At 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves available for RZEZ—F+-A=+—8 " EHEE(A
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under AHEDY B 6B ZIEXETE - D IREEET
the provision of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was ZIK T*é hﬁAZEﬁﬁ%@ﬁE%zm 212,000
$224,212,000 (2020: $211,806,000). T (ZZEZF4F : 211,806,0007T) ©

(e) cCapital management (e) BEXERE
The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard AEBEBREANTERIZEEREEELE
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue HRESE MBS ARFIRHEER LA
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, B iFR D EERTE  LARKKFEEA
by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk and by securing EmEE  URERESSENREMKA -
access to finance at a reasonable cost.
As 31 December 2021, the Group has total borrowings amounting to R-ZTBE-_—F+-_A=+—H ' x&EEH
$42,351,000 (2020: $92,889,000). The gearing ratio, representing the ratio EEH % H4235100m (ZFE -FF:
of total borrowings to the share capital and reserves of the Group was 92,889,0007T) - BEAEL X (EWﬁE mE
7.4% (2020: 17.1%). The Group had bank deposits and cash and cash EAREERARBEENLE) B74%(ZF
equivalents as at 31 December 2021 amounting to $132,386,000 (2020: —EF 1A% HE-E-_—F+ A8
$156,109,000). =+—R  AEENRTEER fuiii&ﬁrﬂ

H4THHE #E132,386,000T (—Z T - T4 ¢
156,109,000 JT) °

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure REBEEGE N EHREEARBERRBRN RE
to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might 1 AER =R EHRE R T Al g b 2 &
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and SEBEKFERIFNE AR RERANEL N
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to RIEZ BES T - WHEELERIZENE L
the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. HERRIBIEL R -
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally AAR REMB AR ZINEE e I E & AR
imposed capital requirements. [CEESE

24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SEBEEERAAMEE
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the AEEE—MREBBEFFEEE  RFPE
normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposure to these &~ FERE RINERE - AEBEEZE
risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the RABEELRANEEMFEAEEZSERR 2
Group to manage these risks are described below. HERBR KIS - ST o

(@ Credit risk (@ FERE
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its FEERBIEXZIEFENES Z’JEEZ—#@I$
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The SEMEEENRE - AEBENEERR
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The EXEREINEZFIER - Z]K;%EE@&%E
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and REBERBIERAMEENEERRE
bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are banks for which R EARZHEFAAEERAEERBRE
the Group considers to have low credit risk. {EHERTT ©
The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the AEBWEREREMERMASEERRE -
Group to credit risk.

[
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHERERERAAMEE ®
(Continued)

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ FERE (&
Trade receivables EWE SR

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period, 30% (2020: 20%)
and 58% (2020: 44%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, taken into account historical data, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. Further quantitative disclosure in respect
of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables is set
out in note 15.

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables
during the year are as follows:

REBOHEERREIESERELNERE
BMEE 2RI EPNEEERITER
FE-Alt EAKERABERNEFPEEK
BaE - BESEERBREAED - RRE
MK EREZESREMBEEAEN0% (=
T_TFE 1 20%) M58% (=TT : 44%)
DRAIKEAEBEARERAKREF -

AEENKRBEREEBENSETERK
BSRMNEBERE ZBEUBHERG
o AR ASRENBTNEEBBLERIT K
FPTRRFPHNEBEEAGTEREZE
E it HA B IR R E T e — TR
PEEBNTEEFHE - AEBOEKE S
ERELENEERR  HE—FPHNTERE
BHEME5 -

FRRKE ZENERBEESNT

2021 2020

s TECTE

$'000 $'000

Tt Tt

Balance at 1 January R—H—H 763 271
Exchange adjustments HE 5, S — 1
Uncollectible amounts written off during the year € A H 4 a] U [Bl & 58 (164) (599)

Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment of H 5 M H A FEU R FOF R E

trade and other receivables (B[E) BitE (46) 1,090
Balance at 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 553 763

Amounts due from holding companies and fellow
subsidiaries (trade-related)

Credit risk in respect of amounts due from holding companies and fellow
subsidiaries (trade-related) is limited as they had sufficient reserves of
resources to settle the amounts as they fall due and there was no history
of default. Accordingly, no loss allowance was recognised at 31 December
2021 and 2020.

ERATF - ARMBARNEELF
(REZ AR HERIE

ZRRAR - RARMBARMEEAR (BHE
SHEB) HEBGENEZARBRESERA
EATME 2R &R R EMS B E R
H WERBELOMESL - Bt RZZ
——F+-_A=+—HEZZE_ZTF+_A
=+ — B ARERE(IIELEE -
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHEREERAAMEE
(Continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk (b) REBESE
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own BER&EEEEEAEHERAGNESEE NI
cash management. The Group regularly monitors its liquidity requirements BASENFETHERARDESTE - U
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate BREEEFE TN IR HEERTETHHHE
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions and related AAEHERNELTHE  UneHEEHEE
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. HZ e EeENK -
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end TERRAEEREERV KRB ZHBAY
of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based HARRfERF AT - WIART X ARBM IR S RE
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments (ANBIEZTNEXRFEZFEZ Y - nE
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at BRI IREEREH Y BRAETFIE
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be TH) RAEEAWERZ&FERBEE
required to pay: AT EZE o
2021
—EC--F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHERBRNESTE
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 year but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—ERH
RERK —F% MER
)1 ERER BRER BENE ag EEE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr T T T T
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERIA 85,144 - - - 85,144 85,144
Loan from an intermediate RNMERDALZER
holding company ‘ 38,740 — — — 38,740 38,383
Loan from a related company BELAER 4141 - - - 4141 3,968
Amounts due to holding companies  EfHER AR REZ
and fellow subsidiaries EAREE 7,618 - - - 7,618 7,618
Amounts due to related companies  EREEEA RIIRE 9,452 - - — 9,452 9,452
Lease liabilities HEARE 433 433 1,273 1,837 3,976 3,656
145,528 433 1,273 1,837 149,071 148,221
2020
“E-TF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHEREENRSE
More than More than
Within 1year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years Total amount
—FRK
NP —F& ST
| BERER BERFR BE FRmzE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tt T T T
Trade and other payables FE(TE 5 REAIRE 83,027 — - 83,027 83,027
Loan from an intermediate PAERARZER
holding company 52,103 38,511 = 90,614 89,035
Loan from a related company BEARER 4,022 = = 4,022 3,854
Amounts due to holding companies ENERARRAZR
and fellow subsidiaries BN FI8RIAE 9,418 — — 9,418 9418
Amounts due to related companies FERRE N FRIR 12,975 — — 12,975 12,975
Lease liabilities HEBE 13 13 25 51 46
161,558 38,524 25 200,107 198,355
[
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(c)

)

(i)

Financial risk management and fair values

24 SMERERRARKRE G

(Continued)
Interest rate risk () FEmEp
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing KﬁlZﬂTH P EHRETBEERELE K
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash BRI BRI ENE KT - REBH
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its variable rate E.IEJ"W K R E R T3C() ©
borrowings. The Group's interest rate profile as monitored by management
is set out in (i) below.
Interest rate profile (i) FlZ=iER
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s TERAAEENEEB ZHRNIERARIZE
borrowings at the end of the reporting period: RN EREERS
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —E-THF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BRRIE x| ElTIES G-
% $'000 % $'000
% T % Tt
Fixed rate borrowings: ELER :
— Loan from a related company BIEAFRERAEAE 4.35 3,968 4.35 3,854
— Lease liabilities HEBE 1.93 3,656 3.81 46
7,624 3,900
Variable rate borrowings: FEREER
— Loan from an intermediate — R AT
holding company 2B 1.88 38,383 176 89,035
Total borrowings B iERE 46,007 92,935
Fixed rate borrowings as EEEROERER
a percentage of total borrowings ~ B3kt 16.6% 4.2%
Sensitivity analysis (i) BRBMESH
At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H "  EstFEL

100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation and the
Group's retained profits by approximately $384,000 (2020: $890,000). The
tax effect was assumed to be nil as the entity which has drawn down the
loan had unrecognised tax losses for deferred tax purposes and it is not
probable that it will generate future taxable profits against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group's profit after taxation and retained profits in respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period. The impact on the Group's
profit after taxation and retained profits is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense of such a change in interest rates.

ﬂ/TEﬁ% BT EEMAEBHRERE
BRBERT  NEBAREERBERT KL
2 +7iﬁ7’rl 1R HE N4 384,000 7T (ZE =
T¢ 890,0007T) ° FIF R BEHETE AR SR AE ST
SRAEZIHBANAEINGSEE - 26
Tlﬂ%ﬁﬁ RIS EB B ELERHE - A
IR EFR IS 2 -

WA EGURME D T BUR A S B B BRI & B A Ko
258Nz AR E( - RN AEERER
E%%ﬁmﬁﬁﬂflﬁ SIBASEH R
ReRMERBRPIES - NEBRBIRER
K Rt BNE B R AZE N RS H RS
BERNFEZEFMGR -
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(d)

124

Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales, purchases,
borrowings, expenses and recharges amongst group entities which
give rise to receivables, payables, loans and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars and Euros.

For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars, all
sales and purchases are denominated in either Hong Kong dollars or
United States dollars, except for certain purchases from Europe. Given
that Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, management
do not expect that there will be any significant currency risk associated
with such United States dollar denominated transactions. For transactions
denominated in Euros, management monitor the level of exposure closely
and take actions such as an earlier settlement considering movements in
the exchange rate.

For group entities whose functional currency is Renminbi, except for
certain transactions amongst group entities that are denominated in either
Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars, most of other transactions are
denominated in Renminbi. For those transactions amongst group entities
denominated in United States dollars or Hong Kong dollars, management
consider the transaction amounts are not significant and the exposure to
currency risk is low.

The Group's exposure to currency risk and its policies for managing such
risk were unchanged from 2020.

24 eMERERRARKRE G

(d)

SN LB

AEBETEREERS B35 FEZH
BB R K B ELESNE (It 5 E
WIHER 2 E%) BB IR
R EARK - BREBRET  AmEY
SNERER o SIZINE R c BT BB
TTREREE

HNEBANETEEEBN S EERE
BRIl mABUNETTIRBIN - PIAHER
BEHUBTHERTIERZER - ANETT
mETTE - MEBREERET, B TEX
TEERBBED - ERUAMERFEZR
7 BEETYEEEESNELKFE - I
& PRI R B SRERYE 3 - ANSEATAG IR

HMNEBAAARBEDREERNSEE
B BRTHEEARSGRINETHETIEE
i bR ZFRUAAREIEEN - BRASE
MAETHABTIEENNR S - EEERR
i%@%ﬁiﬁ\ﬁﬁ * JATE $ H) B BESINE Rl A

AEERTHEARRETRRER T
TEAAR -
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHERERERAAMEE ®
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) sMNERES (&)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) AZ 2 HNE R B
The following table details the Group's significant exposure at the end of TERMAEBEEBWIEAEAERETRE
the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or EETENCHEREESBEES 2N
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of FEESVELZEMDNT - TRIABIEEER
the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of LB ARMERER (ZERERA4E
the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot YA R A FIRE R — 2B y) MELE
rates at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the MR - TROGREIIRGEER ZERY
financial statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group's WEBEIEZRS| 2 A o FERFBAING
presentation currency and the exposure arising from the borrowings BRRZHBmERAEENZIEE M
from group entities that in substance form part of the net investment in EEMZERBUTBIELEA -

subsidiaries are excluded.

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SMERERE (RBTEE)
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
United United
States States
dollars Euros dollars Euros
Ep 7873 EVI B zE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Frx T Tt T
Cash and cash equivalents RekERRESER 12,258 1 17,520 1
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 R EAMARIA — (1,426) — (771)
Amounts due to holding FEHZERR A E) K.
companies and fellow CERG PN
subsidiaries (6,292) — (7,596) =
Net exposure [R\Bea B ER 5,966 (1,425) 9,924 (770)
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 eREBREERAAMKEEE
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) IMNEREE (&)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BB
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's TRETAEBENGEE BRFEE @R 25
profit after taxation and retained profits that would have arisen if foreign BERNE HEBERER 2 BRBRAEN R
exchange rates to which the group entities had significant exposure at the EHBA AR - BRREMERSEE
end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other TNFogtms  EREBTERETZEAD
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the BBRERA Y T ETLHEMERE 2 EE
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar BEFTFE - WH - ARREERETERKEN
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value EERHERTANKINBEEE T
of the United States dollar against other currencies. Also, the tax effect BRERHBBEASZELERE - EitfR
was assumed to be nil for the entities which had unrecognised tax losses BRI EBGTE -
for deferred tax purposes since it is not probable that they will generate
future taxable profits against which tax losses can be utilised.
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) Increase/ Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ Increase/
in foreign(decrease) in (decrease) in foreign (decrease) in  (decrease)
exchange profit after in retained exchange profitafter inretained
rates  taxation profits rates taxation profits
HEER RIEERF R BF HNEER  FRTERF ZEAF
t#/ #m,/ #m,/ A/ #m/ 1,/
(T&) (B2) (R2) (F&) (R4 CR)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
United States dollars ETT 10% 597 597 10% 992 992
(10)% (597) (597) (10)% (992) (992)
Euros B¢ 10% (143) (143) 10% (77) (77)
(10)% 143 143 (10% 77 77
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an LRIz MEREASESEEREN
aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group's entities’ BRI B2 (REWMEH  BREE
profit or loss measured in the respective functional currencies, translated AoERTIREET) 2 AT R Em o Bk
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the aptEE -
reporting period for presentation purposes.
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates PRSI ERBRINEER 2 SFEEARE
had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the AT EAREMFE TR EEBFEAEEE
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the RINERM SR TE  BIESBERENIIIE
reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within G E T 2N B IEBEA A R & R
the Group which are denominated in a currency other than the functional BRI - WE R KREREHEHE T —FELE
currency of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences HAMEERTESEHHEIZTE - oTh
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of BIEBEBAINME AR 2 i mERBREN
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group's presentation currency REE 2 2| EEMEEZR - ZBHM
and the borrowings from group entities that in substance form part of the BT - TER EAEHETT o
net investment in subsidiaries. The analysis has been performed on the
same basis as for 2020.
[ ]
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHERERERAAMEE ®
(Continued)
(e) Fair values (e) RARERE
Except for the loan from an intermediate holding company (note 19) BN T RIRMB AR MEEEARHIE
and loan from a related company (note 19), other non-trade balances B SREES AEIEF L% B BIRERIK
with holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related companies are Bl sER - POIERABER (ME19)
unsecured, interest-free and recoverable/repayable on demand. Given MEAERNTER (MFE19) B - ERZE
these terms, it is not meaningful to disclose their fair values. B WEHEARMEBEZEETK
All other significant financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts FEHEMEREREERABNEREEEE
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and HEER - E - FR T _FTF+_H4
2020. ET—HNRABETRERESR -
(f)  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) cHEERTHEEEE
Provision for discounts, rebates and promotional incentives are either W BAREEEETIE—Re:t AER
included in trade and other payables or offset against trade receivables B REMIEIE - BEAEEAH#ES ERF|E
when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised HEERTE VIR FREELER <
amounts and intends to settle on a net basis. HEIWE SRR RS MK R A E K
The Group holds cash deposits as collateral over certain trade receivables, REBEBBRSReEAE TREEZRE
which are included in other creditors and accrued charges and not offset ZHER  ZERSHAENEZESERS
against trade receivables as the Group does not have a legally enforceable Wi EW S FEE G MKE  REAARE
right to set off the recognised amounts. B S AR RIS E RS ES] -
The following tables set out the carrying amounts of recognised financial TREZ LRSI 2 ERRASRM T A
instruments that are subject to the above arrangements. Z BRI o
2021
—E--F
Related
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial ~ Net amounts not offset in
financial instruments presented the consolidated
instruments in offset in the inthe statement
the consolidated consolidated consolidated of financial
statement  statementof  statementof position — cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
REBERAR REBERRAR REBRRAREE
ERASAMIR il REBRRR HERE2E -
k2 -k | ZFE  WERSERR #E
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
fifz i I i T i
Financial assets SREE
Trade and other receivables B S RE MR 15
—Trade receivables - ERESERE 51,003 (19.922) 31,081 (1,965) 29,116
— Financial assets not in the scope - PREETERS
of offsetting clisclosures LEEEE 11,169 - 11,169 - 11,169
Financial liabilities SRER
Trade and other payables ENEARE MRS 18
— Trade payables - ERNE55E 61,554 (19.922) 41,63 - 1632
—Financial iabilites notinthe scope.~ — BEETERH
of offsetting disclosures L BEEE 43512 - 43512 (1,965) 1,547
[
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 SHEREERAAMEE
(Continued)
()  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) csREERESREGEESE B
(Continued)
2020
ZEC%HF
Related
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial Net amounts not offset in
financial instruments presented  the consolidated
instruments in offset inthe inthe statement
the consolidated consolidated consolidated of financial
statement statement of statementof  position — cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
RUBHAE RUBHRAE RUBRAESE
ERASRHIE BERELE REBRRR RBEBHE -
kx| TAz%%E LEE YERSEAR F8
Note $/000 $'000 $'000 $/000 $'000
Wit e oo o A S
Financial assets SHEE
Trade and other receivables B S REMEE 15
— Trade receivables - EWESRE 58,515 26,830) 31,685 (1,801) 29,884
— Financial assets not in the scope - SRHAETERE
of offsetting disclosures LRBHE 11,090 = 11,090 - 11,09
Financial liabilities tHaE
Trade and other payables ARG &k 18
— Trade payables - ENEZER 64,653 (26,830) 37823 = 37,823
— Financial liabiliies notinthe scope. - 4 BARTEES
of offsetting disclosures LBEEE 45,204 = 45,204 (1,801) 43403
The gross amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and their net TRABBEEERT B RAKRF 2 22
amounts as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position BEFGHRABGBZEE  UERFBERRE
that are disclosed in the above tables are measured in the consolidated B 2 I A ARSI BE o
statement of financial position at amortised cost.
The amounts in the above tables that are offset in the consolidated FERYIE R AR R E R Y £ iR
statement of financial position are measured on the same basis. FEEEESBE o
25 Capital commitments 25 BEFKIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December N-_B-_—=F+-A=+—H ' &
2021 not provided for in the consolidated financial BT P BB 2RI ERRIERE
statements were as follows: mE
2021 2020
—E-—& ke Sl 5 5
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Contracted for 514 13,461 7,272
Authorised but not contracted for BEHOEBRETLY 16,614 18,536
30,075 25,808
[
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26 Material related party transactions

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following material related

26 EXMEALES

BAMBRRAEREZR S REHRI - K
SEERATEABEALRS

party transactions:
Transactions with group companies (a) KERAXEBRERS
Due from/(to)
Amounts balances at year end
x| B/ () EEL?E
2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--F —T-TF —B--F e -3
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
By sx T T T T
Purchases from = (i)
— intermediate holding companies ~ — RMERAE 1,368 1,036 - —
— fellow subsidiaries - RZEK E 5,936 3,197 (329) (732)
— related companies NG 29,629 30,665 (3,196) (7,084)
Sales to i (i)
— an intermediate holding company ~ — RMZR A 258,832 212,511 11,706 16,723
— fellow subsidiaries H%WE — 237 — —
Royalty payments to XNEMEER (i
— intermediate holding companies ~ — JH LUNG 1,678 948 (271) (17)
— arelated company - BEL — 1,647 (6,065) (5,891)
Interest expenses payable to FE X (iii
— an intermediate holding company ~ — A% % LUNG 1,222 2,233 (71) (142)
— a related company - BEL 155 - (161) —
Late charge payable to FiERE (iv)
— a related company — BERR 30 = (30) —
Notes: 3
o) Sales to and purchases from group companies were carried out at terms (i) ﬁt%ﬁ?%iﬁlgﬁﬁﬂnz RFRAETT - AR
mutually agreed by both parties. The terms of the outstanding balances are FERRZ R BT 16 PBIRR
set out in note 16.
Related companies are related to the Group as their ultimate holding REARRANEEARERLSKZERA

company has significant influence over the Group.

Royalties are payable to intermediate holding companies and a related
company for the use of certain trademarks pursuant to relevant licensing
agreements.

Interest expenses were paid for the loans from an intermediate holding
company and a related company.

Late charge is payable to a related company for the delay in repayment for
loan.

These transactions also constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
except for the purchases from related companies, which the directors do
not consider to be connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

7fP< TF +

AHAREEEATE

BN RERERBRETARME - BAEA
EREREN TR MERARREEAR
EER -

FEXHTIEBERRNER

EREREREABEARXANE -

T”a

MRANEUAE  HERS (BEE

REZZ RN BREER S RIFER

Eﬁﬁ

Iﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂ ZAVN ﬂ%%*ﬁﬂ?‘x’ﬂﬁ
RHTEBREE

129



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

130

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBBHE)
26 Material related party transactions (Continued) 26 BEABEALIRS (#)
(b) Other transactions with group companies (b) ESKERHMBEERS
Due from/(to)
Amounts balances at year end
&8 EW () ER&ER
2021 2020 2021 2020
—B--F T T —B-—-F —ECEF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fit FIT ¥ FILT
Expenses paid by the Group on HASEREEAT
behalf of group companies KZER
— intermediate holding companies  — FMERLA A) 7,047 3,076 390 95
— fellow subsidiaries — BRKBAR 94 57 7 1
— a related company — B@E AT 6,952 8,317 1,273 1,260
Expenses paid by group companies HEEARIRKNEE
on the Group’s behalf KX EH
— intermediate holding companies  — RN EA A 2,703 4,005 (6,943) (8,523)
— fellow subsidiaries — AEWBAT 6 (4) (4)
() Key management personnel remuneration (c) FEEEBAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including AEBEEZZETERABZME (BEMET7 FTH
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 7 and the BEARREEI M2 FIAK WS THE
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: METHREHFEENZFIE) BT :
2021 2020
—E-—fF e S 22
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Short-term employee benefits o HifE B a7l 16,799 18,267
Post-employment benefits BER 12 1R A 541 933
17,340 19,200
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)). ameEst ATEIHM] R (RKIEES0))
[
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27 company-level statement of financial position 27 #*2F — HEKAE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note $'000 $'000
B aE T Tt
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - SR NERE 310,620 312,967
Investment properties EME 112,173 116,882
422,793 429,849
Intangible assets BREE 4,771 4,771
Investments in subsidiaries BB A mIERS — 1,690
427,564 436,310
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 42,015 31,271
Trade and other receivables JEURE 5 Kk E M BRTE 36,701 35,115
Amounts due from holding companies FEUIERT A T K
and fellow subsidiaries CES NG 6,846 9,941
Amount due from a related company FEUR BAE A FIBRIE 1,273 1,260
Bank deposits RITER — 20,007
Cash and cash equivalents HERERIRSER 62,999 76,057
149,834 173,651
current liabilities RBARS
Trade and other payables JETE 5 R EAMERIE (53,245) (46,503)
Loan from an intermediate holding FMER AR ZER
company (38,383) (50,876)
Amounts due to holding companies FERHERR AT R
and fellow subsidiaries EENENEERE (425) (587)
Amounts due to related companies FETRAE A R ERIA (3,196) (7,083)
Lease liabilities HEERE (362) (11)
(95,611) (105,060)
Net current assets REBEERE 54,223 68,591
[
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27 company-level statement of financial position 27 ZFoF - BERKIR @

(Continued)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5% T i
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABARS 481,787 504,901
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loan from an intermediate holding R R AR ZER
company — (38,158)
Retirement benefit liabilities RINEFEE (1,757) (2,378)
Lease liabilities HEBE (3,294) (35)
(5,051) (40,571)
NET ASSETS EEZFE 476,736 464,330
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARFHE 23(a)
Share capital R A 252,524 252,524
Retained profits st 224,212 211,806
TOTAL EQUITY R 476,736 464,330
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 7 March KHEFER-_ZT-_F=AtHMERR
2022. RETIEE -
Ramon S. Ang BREX Raymundo Y. Albano R RE
Director FE Director E
[
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28 Immediate and ultimate controlling party 28 EHERRRZERALAT
At 31 December 2021, the directors consider the immediate parent R-ZTE-_—F+-A=+—H BFRAK
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Neptunia Corporation SEMNEES AR RREKIERAT DA
Limited and Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. respectively. Neptunia 37 5% F A R A &) X Top Frontier Investment
Corporation Limited is incorporated in Hong Kong while Top Frontier Holdings, Inc. o 37 3 K 4 BR 22 &1 78 & A 5 i
Investment Holdings, Inc. is incorporated in the Republic of the Philippines. X7 Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. produces financial statements BIJPA JE 7 & £ 0 B 5t B 52  Top Frontier
available for public use. Investment Holdings, Inc. 48 R B 53k K T

A o
29 Possible impact of amendments, new standards 29 BHEGERRBE_ZE-_—F+=

and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, and a new standard, HKFRS 17,
Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2021 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

R=+—BHLFEEEHHERNE
B - FERRRETRERNTE

(EREUBHRETIREZB  BESHA
eOEMEE-_S-_—=+-_A=+—81F
FEMAEY  TEEZEVHEHREEAZ
HIBERT R —TEFRIER - (BB REE
By 175 R AR B EE T4
B EAFRE 2 ER] o

RTHIBEH
Rz EBBZ
BHPEER
(BEMBREEL)E3%E —T-—F—F—H
[BSiERZEIB] 2B
(BB ER) F 165 —T--f—-H-H
(% - BER&E
RERTRRAZ
Frigsva] 21&5T
(BEgHER) F375% —E-__%—F—H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BN % H MRS

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of San Miguel Brewery
Hong Kong Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 68 to 133, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code") and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment — Hong Kong brewery operations

FEME BERERS — DEREEBHREN T

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 79-80

AR RIEIREAM T 11 RE 792 80 HAYEFHHE

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BARETEEERPEERS A

In view of the low profit margin sustained by the Group's
Hong Kong brewery operations, management considered that
indicators of impairment of the Group's property, plant and
equipment used in Hong Kong brewery operations existed at
31 December 2021.
ENEEEFEEAZEBEENAEERE - ERBERANZ
E—F+_A=T-HESERREEEAEBOYE -
BRBEFEREDRR

Accordingly, management assessed whether there was
any potential impairment of the Group's property, plant and
equipment used in the Hong Kong brewery operations, at 31
December 2021, which was assessed by preparing a value in
use calculation based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
Hit EBEHMR = —F+-_A=+—HE£EARE
BEBEGNYE  EERREESTECTERE  TERD
BIRBERMAMREERBEAFEEETHE -

The discounted cash flow analysis used to assess the risk of
potential impairment was based on a number of assumptions,
which included revenue forecasts and estimations of future
discounts, future variable costs and fixed costs as well as
future inflation in Hong Kong and long-term growth rates. The
determination of these assumptions requires management
to exercise significant judgement and is subject to inherent
uncertainty.

ARG ETRERRHE RS RO N HERZIEREE -
BIEWATE B R ARG ET « SRR AT BRI AN 2 B B B AR A 2
BARRBRERAEER - GUHBRINETCHEEEREED
BAAABAZBRREEN T EEARE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment used in Hong Kong brewery
operations included the following:

BRI - e NERE — BEBAERER RIENE
SR EENAT A -

] engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the methodology applied by management
in its discounted cash flow analysis with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
EARMAAEEEMGRMESZRITETER
BEHEEETECHBRR RO MKERNT E#ETT
aPfd

o critically challenging the key assumptions and
forecasts adopted by management in its preparation
of the discounted cash flow analysis by referring to
industry and other available third party information,
the recent financial performance of the Hong Kong
brewery operations and management’s budgets and
plans for the operations in 2022 and beyond;
SETEREMAERNE=FEK EFABEXED
TN BRRREBE R T F RHEBEBEH
EWMTEERTEE  FEIREEENFRREAER
BRI AN R B R R FEA

] engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the discount rate used by management in
its discounted cash flow analysis by recalculating an
appropriate discount rate with reference to available
financial information of other listed brewing companies
in Asia Pacific and considering region and industry
specific risk premiums;
BARMONIEERN - BBEMEB2ETRER
b b T EH 2 B AT ER ) BA 75 B B 51 Mot [ BRAT 3R
HERBBEREFNTENESURE  UHEERE
REBRIRIR SR 2 AR T TR
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AR - BBERRE — EERBERNREN TN

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment — Hong Kong brewery operations

AR R EIREAM G 11 RE 792 80 HAYEFTHE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 79-80

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

plant and equipment used in Hong Kong brewery operations
as a key audit matter because of the significant judgement
and estimation required to be exercised by management in
forecasting future revenue, variable costs and fixed costs and
in determining an appropriate discount rate and also because
of the magnitude of the assets under consideration and the
possibility of management bias in the selection of the key
assumptions.
BPIGETEEE - HEE RERE — BBEREBKO AR E R
ERBRETEE - WWHHNERETERRRKA - RRATZ
AR e R R (B TE A 2N DA J% 25 T 38 i AL 3R SR R ZR 1 L BB K 2T e
et THERSEREENARLERERZRRERENNE
fRiE

BRETEE BREEBNBEEXTEESZE
We identified assessing potential impairment of property, | comparing the actual performance and results of the

Hong Kong brewery operations for the current year
with the key assumptions and forecasts adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow analysis for
the prior year to assess the accuracy of management's
forecasting process and making enquiries of
management as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether they have been
considered in the current year's key assumptions and
forecasts; and

HEBBEEBNAVNBRFENERRAREFHRE
BENBAEFENDMIRINERE ST M RER
RRER R TR ATEL R » LAY B 28 fE T8 ORIAE [+ o 2 1
ERFEFBNOEMERESNREA RN A REE
HEARBELRBAZEFIREEERLAEAZRNERE
EHER - &

° performing sensitivity analysis for the discount rate,
the sales growth rate and operating costs in the
discounted cash flow analysis and considering in
greater detail the information used to derive the most
sensitive assumptions and whether there were any
indicators of management bias in their selection.
HERBReMOMMERE  HEERERLZEK
RETRREDN - WE RS L EPRBREMEAD
BHRER  REEEMNEEREESEEEMRENITR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BN H MRS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’'S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BN H MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheng Mei Yan Hilary.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

7 March 2022
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GROUP PROPERTIES E£EY)%

Details of the major property of the Group are as follows:

Location Existing use

e B RERAR

Major property held for investment
BERENIEME

San Miguel Industrial Building Rental
Nos. 9-11 Shing Wan Road,
Tai Wai, Shatin, Hong Kong

BB MABRKER9-115% GiEh=1
ENTEKRE
|
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY EEEHBE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ABHEEETE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--F ka2 “E-NE —E-N\F TE—+F
$'000 $' 000 $'000 $°000 $°000
Fr T Fr F T
(Note)
(f7E)
Results E4
Revenue WA 595,616 555,658 580,050 584,609 565,785
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRERI2T (E5E) 22,011 12,547 3,310 (70,860) 14,400
Income tax credit/(charge) FTSRiat A/ (i) 97 1,304 4,990 (3,228) 819
Profit/(loss) for the year FEAEF/ (EE) 22,108 13,851 8,300 (74,088) 15,219
Attributable to: PG
— Equity shareholders — A RAERFE A
of the Company 19,364 17,228 11,583 (73,556) 12,480
— Non-controlling interests — FEERR S 2,744 (3,377) (3,283) (532) 2739
Profit/(loss) for the year FERBF,/ (EE) 22,108 13,851 8,300 (74,083) 15,219
Earnings/(loss) per share FREF (FE)
— Basic (cents) — EA () 5 5 3 (20) 3
Assets and liabilities BEHEAE
Property, plant and equipmentand ~ #73 ~ #2332 K &4
investment properties BB 458,923 465,291 474,377 487,708 576,388
Intangible assets BRAE 4,771 4,771 4,771 4,771 4,781
Net current assets REVEEFE 112,459 113,520 98,622 94,495 128,905
Total assets less current liabilities @& mEN & & 576,153 583,582 577,770 586,974 710,074
Loans from related companies BEDNRER — (38,158) (51,115) (64,243) (115,412)
Retirement benefit liabilities RINEFIEE (1,757) (2,378) (10,741) (17,697) (5,799)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,294) (35) — — —
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBRE — — — (4,366) (4,052)
Net assets AEFE 571,102 543,011 515,914 500,668 584,811
Capital and reserves BRARF#E
Share capital %N 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524
Other reserves HA 350,311 324,005 291,560 273,634 358,567
Total equity attributable to equity AR RIEREA A
shareholders of the Company il e 602,835 576,529 544,084 526,158 611,091
Non-controlling interests RS R (31,733) (33,518) (28,170) (25,490) (26,280)
Total equity R 571,102 543,011 515,914 500,668 584,811
Note to the five year summary: AFREBERT

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 January 2019, the Group
has changed its accounting policies in respect of the lessee accounting model. In accordance
with the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting policies were
adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019. After initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the
Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 are stated in accordance
with the policies applicable in those years.
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